Identifying the functional role of breast cancer associated

fibroblasts in promoting disease progression.

by

Gabrielle Brewer

Department of Biochemistry McGill University Montréal, Québec, Canada June 2022

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of Doctor of Philosophy.



© Gabrielle Brewer 2022

Abstract

Cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs) play a key role in dynamically modulating the tumour microenvironment; they form fibrotic foci through contraction, secretion and crosslinking of the extracellular matrix. These CAF-dense fibrotic foci activate and recruit surrounding fibroblasts, leading to larger-scale tissue stiffening and enhanced cancer aggression. While the presence of collagen and CAF-dense fibrotic foci in the breast and corresponding changes in mechanical stiffness have been correlated with human breast cancer aggression, the impact of this evolving microenvironment on the ability of CAFs to promote metastasis remains largely unknown. Here, CAFs from 4 human triple-negative breast cancer patients presenting with (2) or without (2) lymph node metastasis were isolated and expanded to further interrogate their behavior under mechanical stress and the implications of this on disease progression.

In Chapter 2.1, we demonstrate using 3D physiologically relevant *in vitro* assays, that CAFs isolated from primary tumours of patients with and without lymph node metastasis, retain functional characteristics representative of disease state. Using an engineered, stiffness tunable, culture model system, we deconstruct the mechanical cues presented to cancer-associated fibroblasts during the process of fibrotic foci formation and extracellular matrix remodelling; and probe the effects of local mechanical stiffness arising from the dynamic process of remodelling on CAF invasion into the surrounding tissue. With this, we demonstrate CAFs derived from patients presenting with non-metastatic disease require substrate stiffness cues to prompt invasion, while CAFs from patients presenting with lymph node metastasis are no longer mechanoresponsive.

In Chapter 2.2, we explore the link between CAF invasion and substrate stiffness. By examining the transcriptome of CAFs derived from patients with and without lymph node metastasis using RNA-sequencing, we confirm the transcriptomic profile of each CAF subset is distinct, where CAFs derived from non-metastatic patients have significantly more genes elevated in response to changes in fibrotic foci stiffness. The transcription factor Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor (AHR – protein, AhR – gene) previously correlated with fibrosis and migration in fibroblasts, is found to

be specifically elevated both at RNA and protein level in CAFs derived from metastatic patients, suggesting a potential role in facilitating invasion.

In Chapter 2.3, this work demonstrates the role of AhR in CAF invasion. Through chemical and genetic inhibition of AhR, we confirm in human CAFs, for the first time, a dependence on AhR for CAF invasion. In CAFs derived from non-metastatic patients, we find that overexpression of AhR is sufficient to enhance CAF invasion. Interestingly, those CAFs derived from patients presenting with non-metastatic disease exhibit a substrate stiffness dependent increase in AhR expression, whereby culturing them on stiffnesses representative of late-stage disease increases AhR expression and concomitant CAF invasion.

As CAF invasion has previously been demonstrated to be a key mechanism promoting cancer metastasis from the primary tumor, these findings indicate that mechanobiological screens of patient CAFs may be used to understand the current state of tumor progression, stratify patients, and ultimately contribute towards the selection of precision medicine therapies. This work identifies a novel role for transcription factor AhR in facilitating CAF invasion and finds a link with overall patient survival in highly fibrotic tumours. The increased protein levels of AhR suggests a mechanobiological mechanism responsible for clinical failure of drugs aimed at targeting CAF activation.

Abrege

Les fibroblastes associés au cancer (cancer associated fibroblasts, CAF) jouent un rôle essentiel dans la régulation du microenvironnement tumoral, par le remodelage dynamique de la matrice extracellulaire (MEC). Une MEC riche en collagène contribue à une rigidification tissulaire, la fibrose tumorale, qui est associée à l'agressivité des cancers du sein. Toutefois, les conséquences du remodelage de la MEC sur la capacité des CAF à influencer le potentiel métastatique du cancer reste encore méconnu. Dans cette étude, nous avons isolé les CAF de quatre patients atteints d'un cancer du sein triple-négatif métastatique (2) ou non-métastatique (2), afin d'étudier leur réponse à la rigidification tissulaire, ou mécanotransduction, et les conséquences de ces réponses sur la progression métastatique du cancer.

Dans le chapitre 2.1, nous avons développé un modèle de culture cellulaire physiologique en trois dimensions dont la rigidité matricielle est flexible et contrôlée, afin d'évaluer les propriétés mécano-biologiques des CAF en réponse à la rigidification tissulaire. Grâce à ce système, nous avons démontré que les CAF issus de tumeurs non-métastatiques deviennent invasifs lorsque soumis à une matrice rigide, contrairement aux CAF provenant de patients présentant un cancer métastatique, suggérant une désensibilisation des ces derniers à la mécanotransduction.

Au cours du chapitre 2.2, nous explorons la relation entre le potentiel invasif des CAF et la rigidité matricielle. Des analyses de l'expression des gènes par séquençage de l'ARN démontrent que les CAF issus de patients présentant un cancer non-métastatique sont caractérisés par un profil moléculaire particulier, davantage influencé par la rigidité matricielle. L'expression du facteur de transcription Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor (AhR), associé à la fibrose et au potentiel migratoire des fibroblastes, est significativement plus élevée chez les CAF provenant de patients présentant un cancer métastatique, ce qui suggère son implication dans le processus invasif de la maladie.

Dans le chapitre 2.3, nous nous attardons au rôle du facteur AhR dans le potentiel invasif des CAF. Par des approches génétique et pharmacologique ciblant le facteur AhR, nous avons démontré pour la première fois que le potentiel invasif des CAF de patients atteints de cancer du

sein est régulé par le facteur AhR. En effet, la surexpression de ce facteur augmente significativement la capacité invasive des CAF provenant de patients présentant un cancer nonmétastatique. De plus, la rigidification tissulaire augmente l'expression du facteur AhR suggérant que les CAF issus de tumeurs non-métastatiques sont particulièrement sensibles aux propriétés mécaniques du microenvironnement.

Les CAF sont des acteurs majeurs de la progression métastatique en facilitant l'invasion et la dissémination des cellules cancéreuses. Or, les propriétés mécano-biologiques des CAF provenant de patients peuvent aussi informer sur la progression de la maladie et faciliter la stratification des patients pour la médecine de précision. Ces travaux ont permis d'identifier le facteur de transcription AhR en tant que modulateur du potentiel invasif des CAF et facteur pronostique de tumeurs fibrotiques, et supporte l'importance de la mécanotransduction dans la réponse aux nouvelles approches thérapeutiques ciblant les CAF.

Acknowledgements

I feel incredibly grateful to have such a long list of people to thank for their contributions and help both scientifically and emotionally throughout my graduate studies. These intelligent, creative, and passionate people have greatly influenced my love of science and have helped me become the researcher I am today.

Firstly, I would like to thank my two co-supervisors, Dr. Morag Park and Dr. Christopher Moraes, for their support and guidance along the way. Morag, thank you for your love of science, providing guidance, questioning me on each minute detail shown on a slide, and always encouraging (and supplying the wine for!) lab socialization. Chris, thank you for accepting me into the lab after being dropped on your doorstep so many years ago. I'm grateful for your support, your dedication to helping with manuscripts and scholarship applications, and for always having your door open. It has been a wonderful experience learning from you two, both inside and outside the lab. I know the skills I have gained from working with you will be formative to my own career.

Thank you to all the members of the Park lab that I've had the opportunity to work with. It's been amazing to be a part of such a fast-paced, committed lab with a work-hard, play-hard mentality. Tina, thank you for your guidance, support, and dedication during my first years of graduate school. You were exactly the mentor I needed. Anne-Marie, thank you for your valuable insight, love of science, and continual assistance throughout graduate school; I don't know anyone as dedicated to science as you and I'm so thankful for your help along the way. I look forward to catching up over wine in the future. Hellen, thank you for kindness and always being available to help, especially in the most stressful of moments. Abdul, thanks for so patiently re-teaching me how to run Western Blots, and always being available to help with troubleshooting. Dongmei, thank you for your friendship and love of fashion.

To all the graduate students of the Park lab, thank you for making the student room a refuge from the stresses of grad school and a place of comradery. I'll miss joking around in there the

most. I have been incredibly fortunate to learn from each of you and look forward to seeing where life takes you. Colin, thank you for always asking "what's the question?", Yaakov, for your scientific excitement and insight, Tunde, for your kinship, and Vanessa, for demonstrating the importance of extracurricular involvement. Paula, thank you for your invaluable scientific knowledge, willingness to help and being a great friend and co-worker overall. Promita and Annika, I know we haven't overlapped as students in the lab for long but I'm grateful to have met you both. Promita, thanks for your kindness and willingness to help. Annika, thank you for your sense of humour and the level of fun you bring to the lab. I wish we got to work together longer. Marina I'm so thankful we had the opportunity to be co-presidents together; it facilitated a close friendship that I'm very grateful for. You are one of the hardest workers I know, and I'm excited to see where that takes you. Thank you, Bruce for always sharing your controversial views, dedication to science and the secret to your multi-billion-dollar discovery. I look forward to sharing the profits with you. Thank you, Irina for always being there to laugh, eat chips, or cry with me; the lab wasn't the same for me after you graduated. Lastly, Laura, although you weren't officially a Park lab member, I'm so grateful for your time as a visiting student. Thank you for your friendship and all the memories we made while you were living in Montreal.

Thank you to all the members of the Moraes lab that I've had the opportunity to work with. The lab is certainly a place for fun and creativity, and because of that I have so enjoyed all the trials that have gone on in our lab. I could mostly sum up my gratitude for you all with "thanks for always finding ways to laugh". It's been a pleasure. Thank you, Ray, Steph and Sanya, for creating such a welcoming office space and lab group when I first joined the group. Thank you, Ray, for always being there to listen or laugh depending on my experimental predicament and your engineering insights. Steph, thank you for being a great desk-mate, your understanding of cell biology and the general comradery I felt with you in this lab. Sanya, thank you for your team spirit and the fun you brought inside and outside the lab. Nikita, thanks for unique perspectives on the lab and readiness to help. Lisa, thanks for always being a pal and for always having a fun partygirl energy. Sonya and Carley, thank you for continually welcoming me into your office, serving me coffee and making me laugh (Sorry Julia for our disruptions!). Sonya, thank you for quite

literally *always* finding a way to laugh about things, sharing loud and embarrassing conversations in public spaces and navigating the fart box with me. Carley, thank you for your kindness and listening ear, and general enthusiasm both inside and outside the lab. Christina, thank you for being a fantastic lab-mate, your diligence and leadership in the lab has made you a pleasure to work with. James, I haven't known you for long but I'm glad our time in the Moraes lab has overlapped. Thank you for your friendship and entertainment during mundane lab tasks, as well as your initiative in the lab and being a great office mate.

Thank you to my friends outside the lab who provided extracurricular fun and excitement in my life that made the sometimes-overwhelming amount of work and experiments feel surmountable. To Grant and Kate, I don't know what I would have done without you guys. Thanks for your constant support, love and friendship, and for always being a WhatsApp message away. Thank you, OSSHHHHHHHH for aaaalways being up for activities to distract me from the pains of graduate school; I'm thankful to have been apart of this crew. Thank you to my SJAM girls for the comradery, support and distraction you have all provided.

I would like to express my gratitude to my family. Mom, Dad and Blair, thank you for your endless support in my endeavours, for always sharing my accomplishments and being there (even from afar) every step of the way. Your support has enabled my education and ability to pursue my interests. I'm grateful for the privilege you have afforded me through your own hard work and nurturing.

Finally, thank you to my Nicky for being my ever-present support system, listening ear and provider of back-rubs in stressful situations. I'm not sure what I would have done without your patience and unwavering belief in me.

I'm grateful for the financial support I have received over the course of my graduate education from the CURE Foundation, Défi Canderel, Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine and Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada – Post Graduate Scholarship –

Doctoral (NSERC-PGS-D). Thank you to Standup2Cancer, Canadian Breast Cancer Foundation, CIBC, Oncopole and Canadian Cancer Society for funding the Park and Moraes laboratories and research I conducted as a student.

Lastly, thank you to the women who have generously participated in tissue donation for this project. Thank you for giving our work a deeper sense of purpose. You have been the fuel for this research.

Copyright Acknowledgements

I further acknowledge the following publishing company for allowing me to use the full text and figures of my published works in the following chapter:

• Chapter 1: Future Science, Future Drug Discovery, 2022 [1]

Copyright 2022 Author(s) licensed under the Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 Unported License.

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Abrege	iii
Acknowledgements	v
Copyright Acknowledgements	ix
Preface	xii
Publications Arising from this Thesis	xiii
Original Contributions to Knowledge	xiv
Contributions of Authors	xvi
List of Abbreviations	xviii
List of Figures	xx
List of Appendix Figures	xxi
List of Tables	xxii
CHAPTER 1 : LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1. TRIPLE-NEGATIVE BREAST CANCER	1
1.2 CANCER ASSOCIATED FIBROBLAST OVERVIEW	2
1.3. CAFs MODULATE CANCER CELL BIOLOGY	8
1.3.1. CAFs as positive regulators of cancer cell growth 1.3.2. Cancer cells modify drug efficacy	8 8
1.4. CAF FUNCTIONALITY: COMPLICATIONS WITH STUDYING CAF BIOLOGY	10
1.4.1. CAF heterogeneity	
1.4.2. CAPS and tumour invasion	
1.5. CURRENT MODELS CAPTURING CAF FUNCTIONALITY	15
1.5.1 Mouse Models	15
1.5.2. Organotypic Culture Systems 1.5.3. 3D Bioprinting	16 17
	19
1.6.1. Organoid co-cultures	
1.6.2. Advanced Biomaterials	21
1.6.3. Advanced Readouts	23
1.7. CONCLUSIONS AND OBJECTIVES	25
1.7.1 Rationale and objective of thesis	25
CHAPTER 2 : RESULTS	28
2.1. CHARACTERIZE THE ROLE OF INTERNAL TISSUE STIFFNESS IN PROMOTING 3D CELL IN	VASION
OF PATIENT-DERIVED HETEROGENOUS CAF POPULATIONS.	
2.1.0 IIII OUUCUOII	2828 مر
Table 2-1: Patient clinical information	

2.1.2. CAFs isolated from primary TNBC with metastatic dissemination are significantly more contractile	and
Invasive.	33 70
2.1.3 Engineered pseudo-insistic foci with tunasie stimless. 2.1.4 Internal stiffness of fibrotic foci regulates CAF invasive potential in CAFs derived from tumours wit lymph node metastasis.	hout 40
2.2. IDENTIFY MECHANOGENETIC LINK BETWEEN SUBSTRATE STIFFNESS AND CAF INVASION	44
2.2.0 Infounction	45
2.2.2 AhR protein expression is significantly elevated in non-mechanosensitive CAF-pm	51
2.3. IDENTIFY THE FUNCTIONAL ROLE OF AHR IN FACILITATING CAF INVASION	55
2.3.0 Introduction	55
2.3.1 AhR function is necessary and sufficient for CAF invasion	55
2.3.3 AhR protein levels increase with disease stiffness in CAF-pn	61
2.3.4 AHR is associated with poor outcome & disease progression	64
CHAPTER 3 : DISCUSSION	66
3.1 SUMMARY OF FINDINGS	66
3.2 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	72
3.3 CONSIDERATIONS FOR CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF AHR	75
3.4 CONCLUSIONS	77
CHAPTER 4 : METHODS	79
4.1 Clinical samples and human CAFs	79
4.2 Cell culture	79
4.3 Immunofluorescence on human tissue sections	80
4.4 Collagen Contraction and Invasion Assay	81
4.5 Polyacrylamide core preparation	82
4.6 Stiffness readings with microsquisher	83
4.7 Fluorescent labelling of polyacrylamide cores	84 01
4.0 Kink sequencing	04 85
4.10 Western blotting	86
4.11 Immunofluorescence (IF) on polyacrylamide gels	86
4.12 Chemical inhibition and activation of AhR	87
4.13 Transfections	87
4.14 Short term growth and cell viability assays	88
4.15 Imaging and analysis	88
4.16 Statistical Analysis	89
Defense	~ ~ ~

Preface

This thesis is presented in the traditional format. It contains one published review article incorporated into Chapter 1, and one manuscript in submission which has been incorporated into Chapter 2.

Publications Arising from this Thesis

Chapter 1 is included in the following review:

 <u>Gabrielle Brewer</u>, Anne-Marie Fortier, Morag Park & Christopher Moraes. The case for cancer-associated fibroblasts: essential elements in cancer drug discovery? Future Drug Discovery, 2022.

Chapter 2 is included in the following manuscript:

<u>1.</u> <u>Gabrielle Brewer,</u> Paul Savage, Anne-Marie Fortier, Hong Zhao, Alain Pacis, Yu-Change Wang, Dongmei Zuo, Monyse Nobrega, Annika Pedersen, Camille Cassel de Camps, Margarita Souleimanova, Valentina Muñoz Ramos, Jiannis Ragoussis, Morag Park, and Christopher Moraes. Pro-invasive mechanoresponses of patient derived triple negative breast cancer associated fibroblasts are AhR-dependent and correlate with disease state. *Submit at Nature Cancer*.

Original Contributions to Knowledge

- 1) This work demonstrates that **contraction and invasion of CAFs from human patient samples increases with disease state**. While prior work has shown this in activated mouse fibroblasts, my work is the first report of *ex vivo* CAF activation correlating with patient disease state. The data presented here therefore adds an understanding that CAFs that become mechano-insensitive retain this phenotype in culture, possibly reflecting an irreversible transition during *in vivo* disease progression.
- 2) I fabricated stiffness-tunable polyacrylamide hydrogel cores to represent fibrotic foci of varying stiffnesses. Using this I deconstruct the mechanical cues presented to cancerassociated fibroblasts during the process of fibrotic foci formation and extracellular matrix remodelling; and probe the effects of local mechanical stiffness arising from the dynamic process of remodelling on CAF invasion into the surrounding tissue. Uniquely, these retrospective studies of cells isolated from human patients, allow us to triangulate local microenvironmental mechanics, functional CAF behaviour, and disease progressive state, with long-term patient outcome.
- 3) The results of our study demonstrates that **CAF invasion is mechanosensitive only when isolated from early disease stages**. In contrast, CAFs are consistently invasive when isolated from patients with later stage disease and are not additionally activated by local microenvironmental rigidities. As CAF invasion has previously been demonstrated to be a key mechanism promoting cancer metastasis from the primary tumor, these findings indicate that mechanobiological screens of CAF behaviour may be used to understand the

current state of tumor progression, stratify patients, and ultimately contributed towards selection of precision medicine therapies.

- 4) Using RNA sequencing, I identify differentially expressed genes that contribute to the phenotypic variations in invasion and highlight a role for the transcription factor aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) in promoting CAF invasion. Our findings support that CAFs associated with non-invasive breast cancer have low AhR protein levels that can be increased with microenvironmental stiffness, correlating with increased CAF invasion, while CAFs associated with later stage breast cancer are highly invasive and have high AhR protein levels independent of stiffness.
- 5) For the first time, I demonstrate the role of AhR in the invasion and mechanical stiffness sensing of breast cancer derived CAFs; a finding that has potential for broad significance to researchers engaged in targeting microenvironmental support of tumour progression.

Contributions of Authors

In order to achieve the data presented in this thesis, several collaborations were established with experts inside and outside of my field (clinicians, pathologists and bioinformaticians). Author contributions are listed below. I performed all experiments and coordinate any that I did not conduct myself. I analyzed the data generated in these experiments and together with my supervisors, Dr. Morag Park and Dr. Christopher Moraes, made the figures and wrote the manuscripts that arose from this thesis.

Oncologists Dr. Jamil Asselah, Dr. Nathaniel Bouganim and Dr. Kevin Petrecca, Pathologist Dr. Atilla Omeroglu, and surgeons Dr. Mark Basik and Dr. Sarkis Meterissian provided access to patient material. Valentina Munoz-Ramos, Margarita Souleimanova, Adriana Aguilar and Nicholas Bertos assisted with collection of patient tumours and retrieving clinical information. Paul Savage generated CAF cultures.

Dongmei Zuo preformed indirect immunofluorescence and immunohistochemical staining of human tissues (Figure 2-1, Si Appendix Figure 1). Camille Cassel de Camps mechanically tested engineered fibrotic foci using the Microsquisher (2-3C). Hong Zhao isolated fresh RNA from tissues samples (Figure 2-5), and Yu-Chang Wang performed RNA library generation. Alain Pacis performed RNA sequencing normalization and downstream analysis, as well as Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (Figure 2-5, Figure 2-6). Anne-Marie Fortier and Hellen Kuasne assisted with RNA sequencing analysis through exploring different software's for data analysis as well as data bases for validation. Anne-Marie Fortier immortalized patient derived CAFs using pLVX-SV40LT- IRES-tdTomato, wrote the immune focused text for the literature review (Chapter 1.3.2), translated the abstract to French, and provided general guidance throughout the project. Monyse Nóbrega with the oversight of Hellen Kuasne preformed gene expression validation by qPCR (Figure 2-6). Annika Pederson midi-prepped AhR and myc-GFP plasmids as well as optimized conditions for transient protein overexpression of AhR (Figure 2-7).

List of Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Definitions
2D	Second dimension
3D	Third dimension
ACTA2	Actin α 2, Smooth muscle
AHR	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (gene)
AhR	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (protein)
CAF-pn	Cancer associated fibroblasts derived from primary patients with non- metastatic dissemination
CAF-pm	Cancer associated fibroblasts derived from primary patients with metastatic dissemination
CAFs	Cancer associated fibroblasts
CLF	Clofazimine
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
Col	Collagen
COL1A2	Collagen type I α 2 chain
CXCL12	C-X-C Motif chemokine 12
CYP1B1	Cytochrome p450 1B1
CYP2S1	Cytochrome p450 2S1
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DDR2	Discoidin domain-containing receptor 2
DEG	Differential gene expression
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ER	Estrogen receptor
FAP	Fibroblast activated protein
FF	Fibrotic Foci
FFPE	Formalin fixed paraffin embedded
FGF5	Fibroblast growth factor 5
FSP1	Fibroblast specific protein 1
GAS6	Growth arrest specific protein 6
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
H&E	Hemotoxin and eosin
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HR	Hazard ratio
iCAF	Inflammatory CAF
IDO1	Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1
IF	Immunofluorescence
IL1R1	Interleukin 1 receptor type 1
LAMB2	Laminin subunit β 2

Lysyl oxidase
Lysyl oxidase like 3
Messenger RNA
Myofibroblastic CAF
Pancytokeratin
Pancreatic adenocarcinoma
platelet derived growth factor receptor
Programmed cell death protein 1
Paraformaldehyde
Progesterone receptor
quantitative polymerase chain reaction
Ribonucleic acid
RNA-sequencing
Syndecan 4
Stromal cell-derived factor 1
Short interfering RNA
Tetramethylethylenediamine
Transforming growth factor – β
Transforming growth factor β 1
Transforming growth factor β receptor 1
Tumour microenvironment
Triple-negative breast cancer
Tumour necrosis factor α
α – smooth muscle actin

List of Figures

Figure 1-1: CAF activation is step-wise. Normal quiescent fibroblasts are inert but can be reversibly activated upon external stimuli (stress, chemokines, cytokines, growth factors) to restore tissue homeostasis. Further activation by continuous injury stimuli, cancerous lesions, can leave to an irreversible activation of fibroblasts, termed Cancer Associated Fibroblasts
Figure 1-2: Publications in Pubmed with keyword "cancer associated fibroblast" by year
Figure 1-3: The dynamic, functionality of CAFs impacts ECM remodelling and cancer cell invasion. CAFs (Cancer Associated Fibroblasts) are a highly heterogenous population of cells, with distinct key features that impact cancer progression
Figure 1-4: Overview of emerging technologies that could be implemented in cancer drug discovery to improve translational impact
Figure 2-1: Quantifying epithelial content and fibroblast activation does not distinguish patients based on disease progression
Figure 2-2: CAFS isolated from primary TNBC that display metastatic progression exhibit greater contraction and invasive potential into the surrounding collagen matrix from engineered fibrotic foci
Figure 2-3: Development of a culture model of fibrotic foci cores with tunable internal mechanical stiffnes
Figure 2-4: CAFs grown on Enormal and Edisease foci cores embedded in bulk collagen demonstrate loss of mechanoresponsiveness with disease progression
Figure 2-5: CAF-pm and CAF-pn have distinct transcriptional responses to substrate stiffness
Figure 2-6: AhR protein expression is significantly upregulated in CAFs derived from patients with metastatic disease
Figure 2-7: AhR function is required for stromal fibroblast invasion57
Figure 2-8: Elate-stage significantly increases AhR expression and invasion
Figure 2-9: High levels of AhR expression in cancer associated fibroblasts are associated with disease progression and motility in triple negative breast cancer patients
Figure 3-1: Contraction inducing stiffening generates and maintains AhR high, mechanically independent CAF invasion

List of Appendix Figures

Si Appendix Figure 1: Immunohistological staining (H&E) of human patient whole tumour sections31
Si Appendix Figure 2: Quantification of the number of CAFs invading from contracted collagen gel into surrounding
matrix, after 48 hours in bulk collagen by biological replicate
Si Appendix Figure 3: Quantification of the number of CAFs by biological replicate invading from normal and disease
PAA bead into surrounding matrix, after 48 hours in bulk col I42
Si Appendix Figure 4: Box-and-whisker plots of distance travelled by invading CAFs from the centre of the beac
droplet, after 48 hours in bulk col I43
Si Appendix Figure 5: Library complexity and human read alignment are not significantly different between groups used for RNAseq analysis
Si Appendix Figure 6: RNA sequencing analysis comparing differentially expressed genes of invasive CAFs (CAF-pr
normal, CAF-pm disease, CAF-pn disease) compared with non-invasive CAFs (CAF-pn normal)50
Si Appendix Figure 7: AhR inhibition does not significantly affect proliferation or viability of CAF
Si Appendix Figure 8: Confirming si-RNA knockdown of AhR59
Si Appendix Figure 9: The effect of AhR inhibition by Clofazimine and knockdown by siRNA is independent of CAR
lines
Si Appendix Figure 10: AhR expression is significantly increased for CAF-pn grown on late-stage disease stiffness
substrate

List of Tables

Table 2-1: Patient clinical information

CHAPTER 1 : LITERATURE REVIEW

1. TRIPLE-NEGATIVE BREAST CANCER

Breast cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer among Canadian women, and the second leading cause of death [2]. Upon diagnosis, breast cancer is typically stratified based on histopathological subtype, using immunohistochemistry for detection of estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and human epidermal growth factor receptor (HER2). The majority of diagnosed breast cancers (70%) are ER+ or ER+/PR+ tumours [3-6]. These tumours tend to have the best clinical outcome due to i) the tendency to present as low-grade tumours with low metastatic burden and rates of recurrence, and ii) prevalence of effective targeted therapeutic strategies. HER2+ tumours represent 20% of diagnosed cancers [7], and while they were initially associated with poor prognosis, the development of HER2 targeted therapies have shown significant clinical benefit [8-12]. The remaining 10-15% of breast tumours are negative for all 3 of these markers (ER-/PR-/HER2-) and termed triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) [13-15]. It has been challenging to treat due to the absence of well-defined molecular targets. Though it is considered a single clinical entity, molecular profiling with RNA sequencing and other "omics" approaches, has shown an unexpectedly high level of heterogeneity [16-20]. Given this, many researchers have instead focused on developing and using therapies aimed at targetting features of the tumour microenvironment (TME). Previous work from our group demonstrated that differential gene expression of breast cancer TME better correlated with clinical outcome than with tumour subtype [21], suggesting that studying non-cancerous cell populations in the TME can provide further understanding for clinical failings in TNBC.

1.2 CANCER ASSOCIATED FIBROBLAST OVERVIEW

The tumour microenvironment (TME) is a complex landscape, composed of cellular and noncellular components; it is comprised of tumoral cells, as well as fibroblasts, endothelial cells, various immune cells and non-cellular matrix proteins and ligands, collectively referred to as stroma [22]. Cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs) are one of the most abundant stromal components of the TME and have been demonstrated to play a prominent role in cancer pathogenesis [21-24].

In normal tissue, fibroblasts remain in a quiescent state, that in response to tissue injury can be activated to repair and regenerate tissue. Activated fibroblasts express α -smooth muscle actin (α SMA) and acquire contractile properties, allowing them to produce and remodel the surrounding extracellular matrix (ECM) [25]. Although this repair effort is usually effective in healthy tissues, where fibroblasts can revert to quiescence, in cancerous lesions where the stress and wounding are continual, CAFs develop [25]. In this state, CAFs display a hyperactive fibroblastic phenotype, and are largely responsible for remodelling the tumour ECM through the contraction, secretion and crosslinking of surrounding collagen, and other fibrillar proteins; this desmoplastic reaction alters both the composition and mechanical properties of the tissue [26] (Figure 1-1).



Figure 1-1: CAF activation is step-wise. Normal quiescent fibroblasts are inert but can be reversibly activated upon external stimuli (stress, chemokines, cytokines, growth factors) to restore tissue homeostasis. Further activation by continuous injury stimuli, cancerous lesions, can lead to an irreversible activation of fibroblasts, termed Cancer Associated Fibroblasts.

Activation of CAFs depends on tumour induced signals, including transforming growth factor beta (TGF-β), to contract, remodel and secrete extracellular matrix proteins, ultimately altering the TME [25]. Many studies have established a link between patient outcome and CAF number, complexity, or function [27-29]. While the mechanisms of these actions remain unclear, they are likely to require a multidisciplinary understanding of the cancer ecosystem, as CAFs direct remodelling and stiffening of the extracellular matrix (ECM), phenotypes which have been correlated with breast cancer aggression and therefore patient outcome [26]. Fibroblast heterogeneity also contributes to promoting an immunosuppressive microenvironment [30] as well as metastatic progression [31]. Hence, CAFs have become a viable target for anticancer therapies.

Although our knowledge of CAF complexity in the TME is still evolving [32], targeting CAF mediated ECM changes, and associated downstream signalling have become increasingly appealing strategies to modulate CAF-cancer cell communication. However, identifying such targets has not yet translated into clinical benefit. For example, inhibitors of the CAF-dependent hedgehog pathway, IPI-926, failed to recapitulate the overall survival benefits shown in mouse model trials [33-35], and paradoxically decreased patient survival when added to the standard of care [36]. While the reasons for this failure remain unclear, this example highlights the complex roles of CAFs in both stabilizing and supporting the TME.

Since I have started my thesis in September of 2016, there has been a steady growth of papers published focusing on CAFs (Figure 1-2). At the time, 673 papers were published in 2015 with

4

keywords "cancer associated fibroblast", in comparison to just 6 years later that number has doubled (1305 papers). Many of these early studies were focused on tumour-CAF interactions [37-42] and were largely limited to immortalized fibroblasts of cancerous and non-cancerous origins, known to acquire phenotypic and genotypic variations characteristic of continual cell culture and immortalization. Moreover those papers focused on CAFs were focused on identifying subtypes of CAFs using combinations of overlapping and non-overlapping biomarkers [25, 43], a static metric that has yet to prove sufficient at predicting patient outcome [30]. These tendencies may be due to the complexity of obtaining and culturing non-immortalized primary human breast CAFs. Though technically challenging, in order to identify CAF functionality driving stiffening and invasion *in vivo*, it is necessary to have assays using primary cells that capture cellular heterogeneity in a physiologically relevant ECM.



Figure 1-2: Publications in Pubmed with keyword "cancer associated fibroblast" by year.

In the following literature review, I outline the most current understanding of CAF biology, with specific emphasis on the role of CAFs in altering cancer progression. I then discuss the limitations of current models, as well as the complications of studying CAFs in conventional tissue culture systems. I conclude by proposing that specific features arising from the relationship between CAFs and cancer cells should be included in the next generation of *ex vivo* cancer biology studies and suggest technological approaches currently being developed that may be of value in this area.

1.3. CAFs MODULATE CANCER CELL BIOLOGY

Recent reviews have summarized the results of therapeutic strategies focused on modulating CAF behaviour [32, 44-48]. The general lack of success in this area suggests that we do not yet fully understand the role of CAFs in altering cancer cell biology, and particularly response to therapeutic strategies. It is therefore important to briefly review how CAFs are known to modulate cancer cell growth and drug efficacy, as this will affect patient therapeutic response and ultimately disease outcome.

1.3.1. CAFs as positive regulators of cancer cell growth

CAFs have been shown improve organoid and cancer cell growth [49-51] when compared with fibroblasts culture from normal tissue origin [51, 52]. They are a substantial source of growth factors, cytokines and exosomes, where fibroblast expression of TGF- β [41, 53], growth arrest specific protein 6 (GAS6) [54, 55], fibroblast growth factor 5 (FGF5) [56], growth differentiator factor 15 (GDF15) [57] and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) [58, 59] promotes invasion and metastasis in cancer cells.

1.3.2. Cancer cells modify drug efficacy

Collectively, CAF subpopulations modify therapeutic efficacy in several ways. First, CAFs are highly secretory cells, altering cancer cell phenotypes through paracrine cell-to-cell soluble signalling: modulating cancer cell stemness [60-62], increasing cancer cell epithelial to mesenchymal transition through TGF- β signalling [41], altering chemotherapeutic responsiveness [63-66], as well as immune evasion through production of chemokine C-X-C motif

chemokine 12 (CXCL12) or stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF1) [67-69] and TGF-β [70, 71]. Further, a dense fibrotic stroma is also a common feature of immunotherapy resistant tumors, where signatures of TGF-B induced desmoplasia in the stroma is associated with restricted T cell infiltration into the tumor [72]. Interestingly, dual targeting of TGF- β and immune checkpoint inhibitor, PD-1, is currently under clinical trial and showing some promise in improving the success of immune checkpoint therapies [73]. Second, existing therapies can often create fibrotic and tissue-stiffening side effects, which are thought to be mediated by CAFs. These fibrotic reactions are associated with overall worsened survival [26]. For example, the highly publicized B-Raf inhibitor used to treat advanced melanoma, activates stromal fibroblasts [74-76], while radiotherapy in general increases fibrosis [77]. Hence, CAF behaviour may unintentionally be triggered by conventional therapies, in turn modulating the efficacy of said therapy. Taken together, these findings collectively suggest that CAFs are a crucial player in therapeutic response and ultimately in modulating patient outcome. Understanding the effect of therapeutic agents on CAF function and thus the TME, is evidently crucial for the development of new therapeutic strategies.

1.4. CAF FUNCTIONALITY: COMPLICATIONS WITH STUDYING CAF BIOLOGY

Given that CAFs play a complex role in tumour restraint and growth, studies aimed at understanding cancer initiation, progression, therapeutic response, and drug discovery must incorporate CAFs. Here, I overview CAF functionality.

1.4.1. CAF heterogeneity

CAFs are a highly heterogenous "catch-all" description for several sub-populations of activated fibroblasts that function differently depending on their numerous precursors (i.e., tissue-resident fibroblasts, trans-differentiated endothelial or epithelial cells or bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells) [25, 30, 78, 79], and on the local microenvironmental context (i.e. hypoxia or distance to tumour) [49, 80, 81]. Numerous histological markers are established for detecting fibroblasts in the tumour stroma including fibroblast-specific protein 1 (FSP1, or S100A4), vimentin, α SMA, FAP, platelet derived growth factor receptor- α (PDGFR α), PDGFR β , desmin and discoidin domain-containing receptor 2 (DDR2)[32, 78]; yet none of these markers are specific for fibroblasts or even activated fibroblasts.

Sufficient evidence for the presence and impact of CAF heterogeneity now exists in both *in vivo* and *in vitro* models [30, 78, 79, 82-84] to support considering this complication in cancer studies. For example, CAF subpopulations can undergo metabolic reprogramming to provide a supportive niche for adjacent cancer cells [85]. Moreover, recent single cell studies have demonstrated the broad heterogeneity of CAFs within individual tumours in mice or humans [86-90]. The evolving nature of CAF subpopulations makes CAFs difficult to study in culture, as conventional culture methods can select and modify the populations, therefore changing the functional behaviour.

It is likely that the subtypes of CAFs are plastic, with capacity to transition between CAF states; activated fibroblasts are known to exhibit multipotency [91-93], and CAFs are dependent on the microenvironment to influence their subtype [94]. Öhlund et al. demonstrated the interconversion of CAF subtypes based on their proximity to tumour cells [49]; where CAFs in direct contact with tumour cells, respond to TGF- β signalling to form a myofibroblastic CAF (myCAF) subtype, and CAFs further from the tumour respond to tumour secreted IL-1, suppressing TGF- β signalling, to drive an inflammatory CAF (iCAF) subtype [86, 95]. Additionally, the heterogeneity of CAF populations is induced and stabilized by CAF signalling [53]. Current studies focusing on changes in CAF populations are limited, even though understanding the interconversion in response to therapies may be key for better patient outcome.

1.4.2. CAFs and tumour invasion

Second, CAFs play a key functional role in tumour invasion by; secreting proteases that break down ECM to enable cancer cell motility [21, 96, 97], clearing tunnels in the ECM [98], YAPdependent matrix remodelling [99], and physically pulling cancer cells through heterotypic cell junctions [100] (Figure 1-3). To understand drug efficacy on these CAF functional phenotypes, systems must track the movement of individual cells, a process that has been challenging to scale to high-throughput screens, while maintaining a suitable level of robustness. This is challenged by the fact that typical invasion assays follow cumbersome procedures [101, 102] and have endpoint readouts with low signal to background ratio [103]. Moreover, they require precise, automated, multidimensional microscopy and analysis software, an expensive addition to these studies.

1.4.3. CAFs are mechanically competent cells

Finally, CAFs are mechanically competent cells that both respond to and change their physical environment, by remodelling the tumour ECM through contraction, secretion, crosslinking and aligning of the surrounding collagen and fibrillar proteins (Figure 1-3) [25]. Given the broadlyestablished impact of 3D tissue mechanics on biological function [104], this can significantly influence the direct response of cancer tumors to candidate therapeutics. Progressive deposition and remodelling of the ECM by CAFs is associated with disease transformation in human breast cancer [26] and in vitro analysis shows that changes in the ECM alter breast cancer aggression [105-109]. Moreover, remodelling also aligns, thickens and straightens ECM fibres, where signatures of this are an independent prognostic indicator of poor disease progression [110, 111]. This remodelling, thickening and deposition of the ECM also contributes to an overall increase in tissue stiffening, shown in mouse models and human patient samples to foster tissue transformation and metastasis [26, 112-114]. Although tissue stiffening is recognized as an important factor in cancer drug discovery [115-117] and promoting chemotherapy resistance [118, 119], current drug discovery models lack the dynamic interplay between CAFs and the ECM. In addition to stiffening the environment, aggressive tumours typically have dense and aligned ECM [26], providing highways for cells to invade and altering cancer cell signalling and behaviour. I believe capturing these mechanical phenotypes arising from CAF inclusion is therefore critical

12

to generating a more thorough understanding of tumour progression, identifying better stromal targeted therapies, and thereby improving patient outcome.

Together this demonstrates that the functionality of CAFs is key to understanding tumour mechanics and progression, implying that assays with a simple live/dead readout are inadequate. Given the microenvironmental impacts outlined in the previous section, I believe that studies aimed at understanding CAF biology must consider i) the heterogeneity of CAF populations, ii) their role in enhancing tumour invasion, and iii) their contribution to dynamic tissue mechanics (Figure 1-3); all of which have been shown to impact cancer cell proliferation, invasion, immune evasion and drug response, and which cannot be easily recreated in standard tissue culture assays.


Figure 1-3: The dynamic, functionality of CAFs impacts ECM remodelling and cancer cell invasion. CAFs (Cancer Associated Fibroblasts) are a highly heterogenous population of cells, with distinct key features that impact cancer progression. CAFs are responsible for dynamically modulating the extracellular matrix (ECM), though contraction and alignment (orange), ECM deposition (yellow), matrix stiffening (red), and enzymatic degradation (purple). CAFs also play a key role in modulating tumour invasion by clearing tunnels in the ECM (blue), or physically pulling cancer cells through cadherins junctions (green).

1.5. CURRENT MODELS CAPTURING CAF FUNCTIONALITY

The biology of CAFs has been studied using a variety of strategies ranging from conventional 2D culture or histology sections, to mouse models and ex-vivo tissues slices [32]. Current consensus is that 3D models are essential for studying CAFs, as they support the formation of oxygen, nutrient, and growth factor gradients similar to those that occur *in vivo* [120, 121]. They also enable the formation of 3D spatial cellular organization, so that cells simulate bidirectional cell-cell and cell-ECM interactions critical for evaluating stroma-mediated effects on cancer development and progression [122]. Moreover, 2D tissue culture plastic presents mechanical and topographical cues that alter fibroblast behaviour [123], and renders CAFs less secretory than in 3D [124]. Given this established knowledge, I have limited this section to 3D models that incorporate CAF activity for drug discovery.

1.5.1 Mouse Models

Mouse models have been used extensively to build an understanding of CAF function *in vivo*. These models demonstrate that non-specific deletion of CAFs or fibrosis causes rapid tumour progression rather than suppression [24, 125-127]. These findings outlined the foundation of future studies, promoting researchers to focus on altering CAF behaviour rather than ablating CAFs altogether. Although useful, mouse models are far from a perfect system. In co-injection models, where human cancer samples are introduced into the mouse, host-derived fibroblasts will outgrow the co-injected CAFs, leading a study to focus on the interaction of mouse fibroblasts with foreign tissue [32]. With transgenic mouse models, activation of fibroblasts relies on a Cre-

driver, yet no CAF-specific Cre driver exists, so intended CAF inhibition or ablation leads to offtarget cellular effects. Moreover, they are extremely low-throughput and not a direct parallel to human disease progression.

1.5.2. Organotypic Culture Systems

Controlled *in vitro* studies of CAF biology are most commonly performed today using low throughput, 3D, collagen or Matrigel ECM scaffolds with tumour organotropic cultures. Mixing epithelial tumour organoids and fibroblast cells in 3D matrices supports CAF-induced improvements in organoid passaging capabilities and enhanced cellular growth through direct cell-cell contact [49, 50, 128-130], highlighting the symbiotic interactions between tumour cells and CAFs. Using an organotypic culture system where cells are seeded on top of a 3D matrix, CAFs have also been shown to enhance ECM remodelling in a manner that supports tumour cell invasion [98, 99]. Moreover, conditioned media from CAF cultures can enhance tumour growth, invasion, and resistance [38, 65, 131], without dynamic cell-cell interactions. The use of CAFs instead of normal fibroblasts in these systems is essential; In both premalignant and malignant mammary epithelial cells, CAFs promote epithelial to mesenchymal transition, while normal breast fibroblasts favour the maintenance of epithelial morphology and constrain metastasis [132], therefore altering therapeutic response.

While these organotypic approaches have defined key roles for CAFs in tumour biology, they are limited in throughput. To increase experimental throughput with minimal biological source material, microfluidic systems have been developed for CAF and cancer co-culture studies. These

devices have been used to demonstrate increased cancer cell growth and invasion into physiologically-relevant matrices [133, 134], as well as response to chemotherapy [135].

1.5.3. 3D Bioprinting

3D bioprinting is also gaining traction in studying CAF biology, as it allows the formation of precisely arranged cells within tissue-like structures, while simultaneously controlling the mechanical properties of the bio-printed ECM [136]. These specific capabilities allow the formation of realistic culture environments important for physiologically relevant CAF function. Printing lung cancer epithelial cells and CAFs in a physiologically relevant matrix stiffness [137], demonstrate that robust and manipulable *in vitro* models of human tumours can be bioprinted. Furthermore, Langer *et al.* successfully printed cancer cells, fibroblasts and epithelial cells, demonstrating that distinct microenvironments that differentially effect proliferation, ECM deposition and migration, can be recapitulated [138]. This demonstrates that these models can be used to interrogate complex tumour-stromal interactions in physiologically relevant and manipulable environment. However, the application of these as high-throughput screening methods, is limited by the availability of primary cells and cell detection methods (i.e. imaging techniques to decipher cell types).

These studies collectively demonstrate that the relationship between CAFs and cancer cells is both symbiotic and dynamic. While these studies have led to significant gains in the understanding of tumour biology, future cancer discovery models need to better encompass the

functionality of CAFs and their influence on tumour drug response. In this next section I aim to elucidate the key considerations for future studies.

1.6. MOVING FORWARD: EMERGING TECHNOLOGIES

Several emerging technologies from various fields might allow us to bridge the gaps between cancer drug discovery and patient benefit by incorporating CAFs. While there have been major advances in recent work aimed at targeting CAFs and the TME, implementing these approaches into next-generation high-throughput screening will improve overall drug efficacy. I highlight emerging strategies to improve the drug development process by incorporating CAFs via high-throughput organoid co-cultures (1.6.1), conducting assays in matrices that consider realistic mechano- and biological elements (1.6.2), and integrating techniques designed to measure functional CAF behaviours in living cultures (1.6.3) (Figure 1-4).



Figure 1-4: Overview of emerging technologies that could be implemented in cancer drug discovery to improve translational impact.

1.6.1. Organoid co-cultures

Patient cancer cell derived organoids have gained increased traction in drug discovery. While they have a 3D, functional ECM for the cancer cells to interact with, conventional cancer drug studies with organoids lack stromal CAFs. Since CAFs play a key role in reshaping the TME, I argue that the addition of CAFs to such organotypic cultures is essential. In fibrosis, by incorporating multiple cell types, a clear resemblance between the in vitro cultures and human disease pathophysiology is possible [139, 140]. Similarly, in in vitro models of liver fibrosis, 3D multicellular tissues enable preclinical screening of antifibrotic drugs [141, 142], further highlighting the importance of the microenvironment in drug screening. Multiple commercially available systems now exist for high-throughput multi-cellular, physiologically relevant in vitro assays. Some examples of these include; i) organ-on-a-chip systems for mechanically realistic lung-blood barriers [143], ii) 3D co-culture chips that support barrier integrity-, transport-, and migration assays [144], iii) tissue culture force sensors to measure human heart health [145] and iv) bioreactors to model human pulmonary fibrosis [146]. The use of these assays would allow for the interrogation of complex biological questions involving cell-cell, and cell-ECM interactions that would encompass the dynamic invasive and mechanical changes induced by CAFs.

1.6.2. Advanced Biomaterials

Physical characteristics of the tissue ECM vary substantially *in vivo*, with changes in fiber length, thickness, density and organization. Given that these changes are induced largely by CAF remodelling, building models that recapitulate the mechanobiological elements of the surrounding TME will reduce the need for CAFs within the system. For example, the use of pre-

aligned matrices [147] or fibroblast preconditioned matrices could be used for invasion assays incorporating the dense and aligned matrix highways seen in aggressive tumours [26]. Advanced biomaterial formulations that consider these factors may therefore capture the mechanical effect of CAFs, without the need to obtain and include live CAFs themselves. While this approach would not capture the dynamic interactions between CAFs and cancer cells, the ability to recreate this important phenotype may improve translational screening efficiency and translational realism while maintaining the assay robustness required for drug screening technologies.

Advanced biomaterials can be tailored *de novo* to present specific characteristics [148], or can be used in blended formulations to modify the properties of existing materials. For example, Matrigel is well-established in many organoid culture protocols, but is challenging to mechanically tune for specific applications. Interpenetrating polymer networks such as gelatin[149-151], hyaluronic acid[152-154], or alginates [117] may be used as a supporting network to modulate substrate stiffness to physiologically relevant levels, while avoiding any modifications to critically important ligand composition or density.

In addition to linear elastic modulations, physiological ECM also exhibits more complex material behaviours such as stress relaxation, or viscoelasticity, parameters proving to be critically important in designing matrices for drug discovery [104]. For example, it has been shown that use of soft substrates with stress relaxation in 3D, promotes cell spreading, fibre remodelling and focal adhesion formation [155-157], emphasising the importance of incorporating physical cues from the ECM in regulating cellular phenotype and therefore drug response. Additionally, human

breast tumour samples exhibit ECM plasticity [158], a permanent deformation of the ECM. Given that, fibroblasts can produce stresses large enough to permanently deform the biomaterials [159, 160], incorporating these forces is critical to recapitulating the effect of CAF functionality, even in their absence.

The contribution of the ECM is more than just mechanical, and due to the diverse range of proteins, proteoglycans, growth factors and other enzymes, it presents a wide range of biological cues to the cells. The use of decellularized ECM (dECM) is well studied in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, where it activates myofibroblasts [161] and alters fibroblast gene expression [162]. By implementing this in gut models for intestinal fibrosis it increases the fidelity of disease modelling [163] and the throughput of drug screening [164]. However, the systematic use of dECM is not ideally suited for highly systematic drug screening processes in the context of cancer; biological material available for such assays is limited to the size of the excised tumour and tends to largely vary in composition from patient to patient. While it has proven reliable in other systems, the use of dECM may therefore only be relevant in the context of personalized cancer therapeutic screenings.

1.6.3. Advanced Readouts

If CAFs primarily modulate tumor response via mechanical activity, studies to assess the extent to which CAFs remodel the ECM, exert mechanical forces, and mechanically tune their surroundings will grow in importance. Emerging microscale-engineered technologies that allow quantitative measurements of mechanical changes in tissues, may prove an effective tool in

understanding the changes made to the environment by CAFs, to better understand and ultimately simulate their activity. Several recently developed technologies can provide insight into fibroblast behaviour at this extremely local length-scale. Asmani *et al.* developed a 3D fibrotic microtissue array, in which 3D-cultured fibroblasts remodel the surrounding matrix to deform micro-engineered pillars that anchor the matrix to the substrate. Analyzing the deformation of these pillars provides readouts of forces generated by the CAFs, and therefore enable quantification of fibrosis and drug efficacy testing [87]. This fundamental premise has recently been expanded towards developing dispersible microfabricated sensors that can be applied in a variety of culture contexts to quantify cell-generated mechanical forces [165, 166], mechanical compressive forces [167], residual tissue elasticity [168] and other mechanical properties of tissues [169, 170]. Reducing the size and accessibility of these sensors may hence prove quite valuable in understanding the CAF contributions to the surrounding matrix at the cellular level, to better understand tissue dynamics in response to therapy.

1.7. CONCLUSIONS AND OBJECTIVES

It is evident that tumours can no longer be viewed as static clumps of cancerous cells; the complex and dynamic interactions with the surrounding tumour microenvironment play a key role in altering cancer cell response to therapy and therefore patient outcome. Accumulating work suggests improved strategies could be possible by targeting CAFs, however the disconnect between drug discovery and clinical benefit remains. Therefore, I believe carefully assessing the impact of cancer cell or TME targeted therapies on the mechanical and functional forces within the TME, prior to clinical translation, is critical for narrowing the translational gap. While I propose the use of organotypic co-cultures, advanced biomaterials, and various force sensors as technological advances that will be instrumental in improving the drug discovery pipeline, here I have focused on using advanced biomaterials to study patient derived cancer associated fibroblasts in a physiologically relevant 3D system.

1.7.1 Rationale and objective of thesis

Recent advances in detection and treatment have improved breast cancer survival rates; however, TNBC remains difficult to treat and therefore associated with poor outcome. Although the interactions of the TME and more specifically CAFs are now considered key targets for new interventions in cancer treatment and prevention, there is a clinical disconnect. Though many studies have suggested a putative link between CAF-driven disease progression and microenvironmental mechanics [26, 110, 111, 171-173], the precise role of CAF matrix remodelling in promoting CAF invasion and downstream metastatic dissemination remains poorly understood. Therefore, the overall objective of this thesis is to investigate the functional

role of patient derived CAF populations and response to microenvironmental mechanics in promoting 3D cell invasion in a patient specific manner. The specific aims include:

- 1. Characterize the role of internal tissue stiffness in promoting 3D cell invasion of patientderived heterogenous CAF populations.
 - a. In Chapter 2.1 of this work, I develop novel micro-engineered approaches capable of working with limited primary CAF populations, to characterize the invasive potential of CAFs derived from human TNBC patients. I systematically develop a multi-material, multi-stage sequence of *in vitro* culture models to separately mimic and manipulate biophysical features of matrix remodeling, stiffening and invasion during CAF-mediated disease progression in a fibrotic foci-like culture model. Strikingly, I find that in contrast with analysis of histological markers, functional CAF invasive patterns and sensitivity to extracellular mechanics correlates with patient metastatic state, where CAFs derived from patients with axillary lymph node metastatic disease display no mechanosensitivity to their surroundings.
- 2. Identify the mechanogenetic link between fibrotic foci stiffness and CAF invasion.
 - a. In Chapter 2.2, pseudo-fibrotic foci cores were expanded to a large-scale assay for RNA sequencing analysis. Using this, I identify unique transcriptional signatures to support findings in chapter 2.1: CAFs from patients with and without lymph node metastatic disease at time of surgery have distinct transcriptional responses to

changes in fibrotic foci stiffness. Here, I determine AHR gene expression and AhR protein levels are significantly increased in CAFs from metastatic patients.

- 3. Identify the functional role of AhR in facilitating CAF invasion.
 - a. In chapter 2.3, I demonstrate through inhibition and activation of AhR, that AhR facilitates CAF invasion. The findings demonstrate that CAFs retain characteristics representative of the associated human tumour in culture. Using external patient datasets, I validate that high AHR expression is associated with poor overall survival, metastatic dissemination, and CAF motility.

Together these findings demonstrate that functional patient-specific CAF phenotypes are retained in culture and suggest that CAF activity can be used to predict patient response to microenvironment targeted therapies. These studies hence support AhR as a novel mechanobiological marker with which to stratify patients, and a target to develop precision treatment strategies.

CHAPTER 2 : RESULTS

2.1. CHARACTERIZE THE ROLE OF INTERNAL TISSUE STIFFNESS IN PROMOTING 3D CELL INVASION OF PATIENT-DERIVED HETEROGENOUS CAF POPULATIONS.

2.1.0 Introduction

Here, I hypothesize that mechanical stimuli arising from CAF extracellular matrix remodeling, plays an important role in stimulating CAF invasion, a phenotype enhancing cancer cell invasion and metastatic progression. By using TNBC patient derived CAFs, I test their contractile and invasive abilities using a simple 3D tissue-engineered model to recreate the collagen- and CAFdense fibrotic foci seen *in vivo*. I find that CAFs exhibit disease-specific contractility and invasive capabilities, suggesting that local metastasis may be influenced by both CAF type and local microenvironment. To test the role of contraction induced stiffening in promoting invasion, I engineered fibrotic foci cores with stiffnesses of cancer-free breast tissue and early-stage breast tumours. This approach effectively separates fibrotic foci formation from invasion and allows independent control over matrix mechanical cues presented to CAFs. Using this, I demonstrate that CAFs retain mechanosensitivity only at non-invasive stages of disease and become desensitized to mechanical cues as TNBC progresses. This work highlights the role of CAF-induced mechanical cues within the tumour microenvironment and suggests mechanisms responsible for the clinical failure of drugs aimed at targeting CAF activation.

2.1.1 Histological CAF abundance does not correlate with disease state.

CAFs were isolated from four primary grade III, chemotherapy-naïve triple negative breast cancer tumours obtained from surgical resection with informed patient consent. Primary tumours were resected from two patients with axillary lymph node metastasis at time of surgery (labelled CAF-pm1, CAF-pm2) and two with no evidence of nodal dissemination at surgery, and no subsequent recurrence or metastasis within 4 years (labelled CAF-pn1 and CAF-pn2) (Figure 2-1A; detailed clinical information Table 2-1). To characterize the tumour-CAF composition of each tumour, sections of formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissue samples were assessed by H&E to confirm the presence of fibrotic regions within each tumour (Figure 2-1B, *Si Appendix Figure 1*). FFPE sections were immunostained for epithelial cells (via pan-cytokeratin) and activated fibroblasts via smooth muscle actin (αSMA), a common marker of myofibroblasts and desmoplasia (Figure 2-1C) [99].

Although each tumor displayed regions of fibrosis (Figure 2-1B) and expression of both markers (Fig. Figure 2-1C), no consistent significant differences in percentage of stromal area or percentage of active fibroblasts, as defined by panCK and αSMA respectively, were found across whole-tumour sections from all patients (Figure 2-1D). Although activation of CAFs and ensuing desmoplastic responses are associated with clinical outcome, the tumours in our study cannot be differentiated based on relative amount of stroma or presence of activated fibroblasts. However, whether functional heterogeneity of the CAFs might account for variation in disease progression cannot be addressed by static histological differences at defined time points.



Figure 2-1: Quantifying epithelial content and fibroblast activation does not distinguish patients based on disease progression. A) Schematic depicting patient status at time of surgery. All CAFs were derived from the primary tumour. B) H&E staining of human patient tumour FFPE sections (Scale bar, 50 µm). C) Multiplexed immuno-fluorescence imaging of human patient tumour FFPE sections, with anti-panCK and anti- α SMA. (Scale bar, 100 µm). D) Quantification of percentage of stromal area by Tissue Classified Add-on algorithm (Halo) and percentage of α SMA positive stromal cells across whole tumour section (n=1).



Si Appendix Figure 1: Immunohistological staining (H&E) of human patient whole tumour sections.

Table 2-1: Patient clinical information

Patient ID	GCRC-1834	GCRC-1840	GCRC-1882	GCRC-2061
Patient Notation	CAF-pm1	CAF-pm2	CAF-pn1	CAF-pn2
Age	72	71	80	38
Tumour size at definitive diagnosis (surgery) (mm)	20	30, 22	40	40
Histological Subtype	IDC-NOS	IDC-NOS	IDC-NOS	IDC-NOS
Nodal Status	Positive	Positive	Negative	Negative
Staging	T1N1	T2N1	T2N0	T2N0
Breast cancer subtype	Basal	Basal	Basal	Basal
Subtype by PAM50	Basal	Basal	Basal	Basal
ER	<1% of cells	Neg	Weak (15% cells)	Low pos (2%)
PR	<1% of cells	<1% of cells	Neg	Neg
Her2_FISH	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg
Grade	III	=	III	=
Menopausal status	post	post	post	unknown
Neoadjuvant therapy	none	none	yes* (femara)	yes*(tamoxifen)
Adjuvant radiotherapy	none	yes	no	no
Notes			* patient refused chemo but wanted anti-hormone drugs	* for prior IDC on opposite breast

2.1.2. CAFs isolated from primary TNBC with metastatic dissemination are significantly more contractile and invasive.

To assess the functional activity of the CAFs from breast tumours, CAFs were isolated and minimally expanded from the primary tumours of patients with lymph node metastasis (CAFpm1, CAF-pm2) and without lymph node metastasis (CAF-pn1, CAF-pn2). To determine whether functional contractile and invasive characteristics of the isolated CAFs correlate with disease state, we developed a simple 3D culture model to recreate collagen- and CAF-dense foci within a 3D tissue, an architectural phenotype often observed with adverse prognosis [174-177]. CAF invasion is necessary to facilitate tumour cell invasion [98-100], and therefore a read-out for downstream metastasis. Fibroblast-laden collagen gels were bioprinted using a previouslydeveloped aqueous two-phase printing technology [120, 178], and allowed to contract over two days to form a densified tissue droplet, reminiscent of high-density fibrotic foci that occur in the breast cancer tumour microenvironment [177]. Since activated mouse fibroblasts derived from malignant tissues have previously been shown to have increased contractile capacity over fibroblasts derived from normal or premalignant tissues [99, 179], we first asked whether human CAFs isolated from the primary tumour site can differentially remodel collagen in a diseasespecific manner. To assess this, we quantified contraction of the engineered fibrotic foci over 48 hours of culture. While all CAF populations were able to contract the collagen, CAFs from patients with lymph node metastasis were significantly more contractile than CAFs from non-metastatic conditions (Figure 2-2C).

After contraction, these foci were then embedded into an acellular, background collagen matrix (Figure 2-2A) and imaged via confocal fluorescence microscopy of fixed samples to quantify and characterize CAF invasion into the surrounding collagen matrix. CAFs from patients presenting with lymph node metastasis invaded as strands of cells, while the few invading CAFs from nonmetastatic disease migrated individually (Figure 2-2B). CAFs that invaded into the low-density collagen surroundings were spindle-like in morphology (Figure 2-2 B), consistent with in vivo observations [25]. Based on the number of invasive cells (Figure 2-2D, Si Appendix Figure 2) and the distance to which they invade (Figure 2-2E), CAFs isolated from primary tumours with axillary lymph node metastasis are significantly more invasive than those from primary tumours that did not metastasize. Together this correlates with contractile behaviour, such that highly invasive CAFs are more contractile. These differences suggest that downstream metastasis-promoting invasive behaviour may be influenced by both cell type and local microenvironmental conditions.

These pro-metastatic invasive behaviours are reproducible across biological and technical replicates, and are consistent with both the known heterogeneity of CAF populations [78], and the emergence of distinct CAF subtypes at various stages of disease [25]. Taken together, this data provides evidence that invasive CAF populations are distinct and correlate with patient disease status, and that a greater proportion of CAFs in the primary tumour with lymph node metastasizing disease are functionally invasive. Whether the observed changes in invasive behaviour are intrinsic to the contractile phenotype of the CAF population remains unclear.



Figure 2-2: CAFS isolated from primary TNBC that display metastatic progression exhibit greater contraction and invasive potential into the surrounding collagen matrix from engineered fibrotic foci. A) Schematic depicting contraction and subsequent invasion assay; celldense collagen droplets are printed, contract and are embedded into Type I collagen gels and assayed for invasion after 24 hours. B) Imaging of filamentous actin (green) and nuclei (blue) in 3D culture section demonstrates CAF invasion is specific to disease state, with increased collective invasion in CAFs associated with metastatic disease (Scale bars, 200µm). C) Collagen droplet contraction after 48 hours, normalized to the original size of the droplet. D) Number of CAFs invading from the contracted collagen gel into the surrounding matrix, (n=3 biological replicates; *p<0.05 by one-way ANOVA with Newman-Keuls post-hoc test for pairwise comparisons), and E) distance travelled by invading CAFs from the centre of the contracted droplet (n=3 biological replicates; *p<0.05 by two-tailed unpaired nonparametric Mann-Whitney Test), after 48 hours in collagen. Box plots indicate median and first to third quartile, and whiskers span the range. Blue lines indicate average contracted droplet radius.



Si Appendix Figure 2: Quantification of the number of CAFs invading from contracted collagen gel into surrounding matrix, after 48 hours in bulk collagen by biological replicate. Each dot represents one technical replicate.

2.1.3 Engineered pseudo-fibrotic foci with tunable stiffness.

To better understand the specific microenvironmental factors that may drive invasive behaviour, we considered several deconstructed cues arising within the contracted fibrotic foci. The collagen contraction process results in simultaneous microenvironmental changes in matrix stiffness [180], porosity [181], cell-cell contact [182, 183], soluble factor secretion [184-186], and cell alignment [111, 171, 187]; each of which may have competing effects on driving invasion [188-190]. Mechanical matrix stiffness cues in particular have been well-established to drive biological processes in disease [191] and breast cancer progression specifically [26], and I therefore hypothesized that highly contractile CAFs generate stiffer fibrotic foci, which can then prompt enhanced invasion. To assess the specific contribution of mechanical rigidity within fibrotic foci, I designed a stiffness-tunable "core" for the engineered foci. We first estimated that collagen gels stiffen from ~100 Pa initial modulus [192] by approximately two orders of magnitude based on the densification of the material during contraction [193]. These rough calculations were consistent with a range of stiffnesses found in cancer-free adipose tissue (~3 kPa Young's modulus; Enormal conditions) through early-stage invasion in breast tumors (>10 kPa Young's modulus; Edisease conditions) [194]. To recreate these stiffnesses, we generated stiffnesstunable polyacrylamide hydrogel droplets at similar sizes to our fibrotic foci (Figure 2-3D), using an oil/water two-phase system (Figure 2-3A), and functionalized the surface with Type I collagen (Figure 2-3B) to support cell culture. We verified the stiffness of the polymerized droplet using a cantilever-based mechanical characterization system (MicroSquisher; CellScale Biomaterials Testing Inc.; Figure 2-3C). Adhesion of CAFs to the bead surface was assessed via

immunofluorescence of actin (phalloidin) and nucleus (DAPI), and no significant differences were observed in cell area (Figure 2-3E, F) and viability (Figure 2-3G) between E_{normal} and $E_{disease}$ foci.



Figure 2-3: Development of a culture model of fibrotic foci cores with tunable internal mechanical stiffness. A) Schematic depicting polyacrylamide bead formation. Aqueous polyacrylamide components were dispersed in immiscible kerosene phase and allowed to polymerize, coated with collagen and dispensed as an individual bead per well for cell culture. B) Fluorescently labelled (green) polyacrylamide beads were generated and stained for collagen I (red), confirming uniform extracellular matrix coating to support cell attachment and growth. (Scale bar, $500 \mu m$). C) MicroSquisher measurements on engineered cores confirm that stiffnesses represent normal and diseased tissues (3 +/- 0.5 kPa, and 13 +/- 3.1 kPa respectively; n=5). D) Quantification of bead size after swelling confirmed no significant difference in size between E_{normal} and $E_{disease}$ (n=3-4). E) Representative staining of filamentous actin in CAFs (scale bar, 200 μ m), F) analysis of filamentous actin on cells coating the bead revealed cells spread equivalently on both normal and diseased cores (n=3), and G) cell viability is comparable between both stiffness conditions tested (n=4). Data presented as mean +/- SD.

2.1.4 Internal stiffness of fibrotic foci regulates CAF invasive potential in CAFs derived from tumours without lymph node metastasis.

CAFs were seeded on Enormal and Edisease cores, and embedded in collagen to assess invasion into the surrounding matrix (Figure 2-4A). On Enormal and Edisease foci, CAFs associated with lymph node metastatic disease were significantly more invasive compared to CAFs from non-metastatic disease (Figure 2-4C, Si Appendix Figure 3). Interestingly, comparing invasive abilities of each CAF population between normal and disease-stiffened foci demonstrates that CAFs isolated from non-metastatic tumors significantly increased invasive abilities when primed by Edisease stiffness cues, but those isolated from tumours that have undergone lymph node metastasis showed no additional stiffness-induced activation (Figure 2-4D, Si Appendix Figure 4). Distance travelled by invading CAF populations was not significantly different across patients or stiffnesses (Si Appendix Figure 4). The stiffness-induced fold change in the fraction of invading cells confirmed that CAFs isolated from non-metastatic tumours were significantly more responsive to increased stiffness cues in the fibrotic foci core than those CAFs from tumours with lymph node metastasis (Figure 2-4D). Taken together, this data suggests that CAFs isolated from tumours that have already undergone lymph node spread are no longer mechanoresponsive or reliant on mechanical stiffness cues for invasion, while CAFs derived from tumours with no metastatic spread remain mechanoresponsive to microenvironmental stiffness cues within the fibrotic foci.



Figure 2-4: CAFs grown on E_{normal} and $E_{disease}$ foci cores embedded in bulk collagen demonstrate loss of mechanoresponsiveness with disease progression. A) Schematic demonstrating measurements of CAF invasion from engineered fibrotic foci cores with tunable stiffness. B) Representative images of CAFs (DAPI) invading from E_{normal} and $E_{disease}$ foci into bulk collagen matrix. (Scale bar, 500µm). C) Number of CAFs that invade from E_{normal} and $E_{disease}$ foci into the surrounding matrix 48 hours after encapsulation. D) Fold-change in invasion on $E_{disease}$ stiffness polyacrylamide cores relative to E_{normal} stiffness polyacrylamide cores. Each datapoint represents the number of invading CAFs per technical replicate. Grey bars represent the fold change of invasion on diseased to normal polyacrylamide cores. (Data presented as mean +/- SD; biological replicates n=3; * p<0.05 by two-tailed unpaired nonparametric Mann-Whitney Test).



Si Appendix Figure 3: Quantification of the number of CAFs by biological replicate invading from normal and disease PAA bead into surrounding matrix, after 48 hours in bulk col I.



Si Appendix Figure 4: A) Box-and-whisker plots of distance travelled by invading CAFs from the centre of the bead droplet, after 48 hours in bulk col I. Box plots indicate median and first to third quartile, and whiskers span the range. CAF invasion on B) normal and C) disease stiffened foci.

2.2. IDENTIFY MECHANOGENETIC LINK BETWEEN SUBSTRATE STIFFNESS AND CAF

2.2.0 Introduction

The mechanically tunable 3D invasion assay developed in Chapter 2.1 allows precise control over microenvironmental stimuli and captures the idea of bidirectional stiffness that is present in breast cancer. In this chapter, by scaling up the device size to complete bulk RNA sequencing (RNA-seq), I have identified genes and pathways differentially expressed when CAFs are cultured on Enormal and Edisease foci cores, as well as between CAF-pn and CAF-pm. We find functional CAF invasive patterns and sensitivity to microenvironmental mechanics correlates with patient metastatic state. Here, we find a correlative link between invasion and the expression of the transcription factor, aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR). Previous studies with the transcription factor AhR show a proliferation and migration role in a cell-type dependent manner: Increased AhR levels inhibit proliferation of breast [195], prostate [196], and liver [197] cancer cells and its deficiency promotes epithelial cell migration [198] and metastasis [199]. Interestingly however, in the context of fibroblasts, AhR has been shown to have a regulatory role, where low expression increases cell adhesion and high expression increases fibroblast migration [200, 201]. Here, we find CAFs from patients with non-metastatic disease (CAF-pn) are mechanosensitive, with AhR protein levels that correlate with microenvironmental stiffness, and CAFs from patients with lymph node metastasis (CAF-pm) have high AhR levels independent of stiffness.

2.2.1 CAF-pm and CAF-pn show distinct transcriptional profiles

To determine whether a transcriptional link between mechanosensitivity in early-stage disease (no metastasis) and lack of mechanosensitivity in later-stage (lymph node metastasis) disease, we performed RNA-seq analysis of all 4 CAFs grown on E_{normal} and $E_{disease}$. To obtain sufficient cells for RNA-seq, we scaled up the fibrotic foci cores into flattened devices (Figure 2-5A), coating them with cells and embedding in bulk collagen. After quality control and removal of samples with significantly lower human read alignment a total of 19 samples (CAF-pm $E_{normal} = 4$, CAF-pm $E_{disease} = 5$, CAF-pn $E_{normal} = 4$, CAF-pn $E_{disease} = 6$) were retained for down- stream analyses (Si Appendix Figure 5). Batch effects among the samples were observed and corrected for.



Si Appendix Figure 5: A) Library complexity and B) human read alignment are not significantly different between groups used for RNA-seq analysis.

By comparing the transcriptomes of both CAF subsets on *E*_{normal} and *E*_{disease}, we first identified the differentially expressed genes (DEG) in response to changes in stiffness, in CAFs from patients with lymph node metastasis (CAF-pm) and CAFs from patients with non-metastatic disease (CAF-pn). CAFs from patients with non-metastatic disease had more differentially expressed genes in response to changes in substrate stiffness (1186 for CAF-pm, vs. 3210 for CAF-pn; <0.5 log₂fold, q-value <0.05; Figure 2-5A). This 3-fold reduction in differentially expressed genes in CAFs from patients with lymph node metastasis (CAF-pm) further supports the notion that CAF invasion from later stages of disease are less sensitive to environmental mechanics.

To identify pathways upregulated in each condition, we performed Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) of each CAF subset on either substrates of E_{normal} or $E_{disease}$ stiffness (Figure 2-5C). CAFs associated with metastatic disease showed an upregulation in invasion-associated pathways including epithelial-mesenchymal-transition and classical Wnt-beta catenin signaling, genes associated with wound healing and fibrosis[202-206]. In CAFs associated with non-metastatic disease, growth on $E_{disease}$ -like substrates of stiffness was enriched for oxidative phosphorylation and mTORC1 signaling suggesting that local microenvironment can drive changes in metabolic state[207] and the upregulation of translation[208], rather than invasion. Given that CAFs associated with non-metastatic disease were invasive on $E_{disease}$, but still not as invasive as CAFs from patients with lymph-node metastasis, it is reasonable that signatures of invasion are not highly enriched for CAF-pn on $E_{disease}$. Interestingly $E_{disease}$ increased TNF- α signaling via NFkB in both CAF subgroups, a signature previously shown to play a key role in driving cancer cell invasion

and in inflammatory CAF formation [40, 53, 60, 209, 210], suggesting microenvironmental stiffness may play a role in influencing TNF- α signaling.

When we compared pro-invasive CAF cultures (CAF-pm E_{normal} , CAF-pm $E_{disease}$, CAF-pn $E_{disease}$) against non-invasive cultures (CAF-pn E_{normal}), fewer genes were uniquely significantly different between these groups (Si Appendix Figure 6). This further supports our previous findings that these cells are functionally distinct in their responses to mechanical cues, and that some consistent differences can be identified even in highly variable patient-specific samples.



Figure 2-5: CAF-pm and CAF-pn have distinct transcriptional responses to substrate stiffness. A) Schematic displaying differentially expressed genes across the various conditions tested (Q<0.10). B) RNA sequencing analysis of CAFs on E_{normal} and $E_{disease}$. The heat map shows differentially expressed genes between the E_{normal} and $E_{disease}$ for CAF-pm and CAF-pn(Q < 0.1, log₂FCI>0.5). C) GSEA of up-regulated pathways in CAF-pm (top) and CAF-pn (bottom) on $E_{disease}$ compared with self on E_{normal} . D) Working model demonstrating the response to substrate cues to support CAF invasion.


Si Appendix Figure 6: RNA sequencing analysis comparing differentially expressed genes of invasive CAFs (CAF-pm normal, CAF-pm disease, CAF-pn disease) compared with non-invasive CAFs (CAF-pn normal)(Q < 0.1, $log_2FCI>0.5$). Heatmap supports distinct transcriptional profile between CAF-pm and CAF-pn.

2.2.2 AhR protein expression is significantly elevated in non-mechanosensitive CAF-pm Given the correlation between disease state and stiffness-independent invasion, we speculated that comparing differentially expressed genes in CAF-pm and CAF-pn independent of substrate stiffness, would allow for identification of differential gene expression inherent to each CAF grouping. (Figure 2-6A). In particular, genes associated with the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor (AhR) Pathway (AHR, CYP1B1, CYP2S1, IL1R1, SDC4, REL and IDO1) were uniquely elevated in CAF-pm (Figure 2-6B). Interestingly, the activation of AhR is being explored for treating fibrotic eye disease, as its expression leads to an increase in MMP protein levels, a phenotype associated with cell invasion, and a decrease in TGF-β signaling, a hallmark of fibrosis [211]. Supporting this, in CAF-pn (low AhR expression) we noted an increase in pro-fibrotic genes (ACTA2, JUNB, COL1A2, TGFBR1, LAMB2, TGFB1, LOX, LOXL3). Moreover, the expression of downstream cytochrome p450 enzyme (CYP1B1) is associated with activated human hepatic stellate cells [212], suggesting a role in CAF activation. I therefore hypothesized that elevated AhR levels were responsible for a pronounced invasive phenotype in CAFs derived from patients presenting with metastatic disease (CAF-pm).

To begin validation of the gene expression data, we immortalized the primary CAFs using pLVX-SV40-LT-IRES-tdTomato to expand their long-term culturing abilities and used immortalized CAFs for all subsequent experiments. Using quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR), I validated a significant increase in mRNA expression of AHR and CYP1B1 in CAF-pm (Figure 2-6C), and a significant increase in AhR protein levels by western blot (Figure 2-6D). To characterize the cellular localization of AhR in response to microenvironmental mechanics, CAFs were cultured for 72 hours on E_{normal} and E_{disease}, fixed and immunostained for AhR (Figure 2-6E, Si Appendix Figure 7). Consistent with western blot data, total AhR protein levels were significantly elevated for CAF-pm (Figure 2-6E). Consistent with previous observations [199, 200, 211], the nuclear accumulation of AhR was significantly higher in CAF-pm. Taken together, this data confirms that AhR protein expression is significantly upregulated in the primary tumour CAFs from patients with metastatic disease (CAF-pm).



Figure 2-6: AhR protein expression is significantly upregulated in CAFs derived from patients with lymph node metastatic disease. A) RNA sequencing analysis of differentially expressed genes of CAF-pm compared with CAF-pn on E_{normal} and $E_{disease}$ (Q < 0.1, $log_2FCI>0.5$). B) Heatmap showing normalized mRNA expression of genes encoding AhR related proteins and fibrosis associated proteins. C) qPCR validation of AHR and CYP1B1 in CAF-pm and CAF-pn (n=3 biological replicates; * p < 0.05 by unpaired t-test). D) Western blot analysis of AhR in CAF-pm and CAF-pn. Analysis was normalized against 6-Actin (loading control) and represented as a fold change from CAF-pn (n=3, p < 0.05 by unpaired t-test). E) Representative immunofluorescence staining of AhR (green), DAPI (blue) and phalloidin (magenta) (Scale bar, 50 µm). Quantification of total AhR protein levels and localization demonstrates CAFs from patients with metastatic disease have increased AhR protein levels and nuclear localization. Box plots indicate median and first to third quartile, and whiskers span the range.



Si Appendix Figure 7: CellProfiler pipeline for quantifying nuclear and cytoplasmic immunofluorescent staining of AhR per cell. A) Overview of pipeline. Algorithm for B) identifying nuclei based off DAPI, C) for classifying total cell based off phalloidin, and identifying cytoplasmic area by subtracting nuclei from total cell.

2.3. IDENTIFY THE FUNCTIONAL ROLE OF AHR IN FACILITATING CAF INVASION.

2.3.0 Introduction

Given the established link between mechanosensitivity and elevated AHR/AhR levels, we next aimed to assess the function role of AhR in facilitating CAF invasion. Here, using siRNA knockdown and chemical inhibition with clofazimine, we demonstrate AhR is needed to facilitate CAF invasion. Through AhR over expression experiments, we demonstrate high AhR protein levels are sufficient to facilitate CAF-pn invasion. Lastly, we demonstrate that late-stage disease stiffness is sufficient to increase CAF-pn invasion, and link this with a concomitant increase in AhR levels. Due to the novelty of the culture method for RNA-seq and the limited number of patient samples, we then validate AHR in external datasets, establishing a role for AHR expression in disease progression and patient outcome.

2.3.1 AhR function is necessary and sufficient for CAF invasion

To assess the functional activity of AhR in promoting CAF invasion, we used chemical inhibition and short interfering RNA (siRNA) knockdown of AhR. Since we aimed to compare knockdown of AhR against CAF invasion, both CAF-pms and -pns were seeded onto substrates of stiffness E_{disease} on which both cells exhibited invasion. Once seeded, cells were treated with clofazimine (CLF), a potent inhibitor of AhR nuclear translocation [213], or two siRNAs targeting AhR (Si Appendix Figure 8 and Si Appendix Figure 9, respectively). Importantly, we aimed to prevent CAF invasion without effecting cell viability, as the depletion of CAFs has had deleterious effects *in vivo* [24, 125]. We first confirmed that tested concentrations of clofazimine did not significantly affect cell viability (Si Appendix Figure 8), and neither clofazimine nor si-AhR significantly impact CAF proliferation (Si Appendix Figure 8 and Si Appendix Figure 9, respectively). Clofazimine and si-AhR (Figure 2-7B, Figure 2-7C, Si Appendix Figure 10) both significantly decreased CAF invasion, consistent with the previously established role for AhR in fibroblast migration [199, 200]. Hence, AhR function is necessary for CAF invasion.

2.3.2 AhR overexpression promotes CAF-pn invasion

We next investigated whether AhR activation or overexpression alone was sufficient to drive invasion in CAFs derived from non-metastatic disease. Using L-kynurenine, a metabolite of tryptophan known to induce AhR nuclear translocation [214], CAF-pn were seeded onto E_{normal} and treated with L-Kynurenine (same flow as Si Appendix Figure 8). Interestingly, although CAF-pn were trending towards an increase in CAF invasion, there was no significant increase in invasiveness (Figure 2-7D). We reasoned that the nuclear localization of very low levels of AhR in CAF-pn cells was not significant to drive invasion.

To address whether AhR overexpression drives invasion, we transiently overexpressed an AhR plasmid under CMV promoter with a GFP tag. After plasmid transfection (Figure 2-7E) and on quantification, activation of AhR by overexpression significantly increased CAF-pn invasion (Figure 2-7E, F). Together, this data demonstrates that high levels of AhR fosters CAF invasion.



Figure 2-7: AhR function is required for stromal fibroblast invasion. A) Representative images of CAF invasion after treatment with clofazimine or siRNA knockdown of AhR (Scale bar, 300 μ m). Arrows indicate invasive cells. B) Clofazimine significantly decreases CAF invasion at 10 μ M and 20 μ M of Clofazimine in a dose dependent manner. C) CAFs transfected with si-AhR are significantly less invasive. D) L-Kynurenine does not significantly increase CAF-pm or CAF-pn invasion on E_{normal}. E) Representative image of CAF-pn invasion transfected with control myc-GFP or AhR. F) Overexpression of AhR prompts CAF-pn invasion on E_{normal}. (Biological n=3) *p <0.05 by one-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc).



Si Appendix Figure 8: AhR inhibition does not significantly affect proliferation or viability of CAFs. A) Proliferation of CAFs is not significantly different between control and clofazimine treated cells (biological replicate n=3, p<0.05 by one way ANOVA). B) Viability is not significantly different between vehicle and clofazimine treated cells (biological replicates, n=3, * p < 0.05 by one-way ANOVA). C) Representative images of live/dead as determined by Calcien AM/DAPI staining. D) Schematic representing the flow of clofazimine invasion assays. E) Representative images of invasion assay with and without invasion inhibition as imaged using Calcien AM.



Si Appendix Figure 9: Confirming si-RNA knockdown of AhR. A) siRNA knockdown of AhR does not significantly change proliferation of CAFs. B) Western blot analysis reveals significant knock-down of AhR in CAF-pm2. C) CAF-pm2 were transfected with 3 siRNA (biological replicate, n=3). B) No significant different in normalized AhR expression in siRNA 1,2, or 3. D) HeLa cells were transfected with fluorescent and non-fluorescent control siRNA in 3D collagen gel. Fluorescently labelled cells confirm siRNA transfection in 3D. E) Schematic representing flow of siRNA transfection in invasion assay.



Si Appendix Figure 10: The effect of AhR A) inhibition by Clofazimine and B) knockdown by siRNA is independent of CAF lines.

2.3.3 AhR protein levels increase with disease stiffness in CAF-pn

Thus far our work has shown CAFs derived from the primary tumour of patients with lymph node metastasis are more contractile and invasive, regardless of microenvironmental cues (Chapter 2.1). In our models, the stiffnesses of the fibrotic foci cores are representative of cancer-free adipose tissue through early-stage invasion in breast tumors [194], however it is becoming increasingly apparent that late-stage breast cancer reaches much higher stiffnesses [168, 215, 216]. Given that increasing stiffness significantly increases invasion of CAFs derived from non-metastatic disease, we asked whether generating fibrotic cores at E_{late-stage} (>25 kPa) would increase CAF-pn invasion, and if this correlated with AhR levels.

Consistent with our earlier findings on non-immortalized CAFs, CAFs associated with metastatic disease were only slightly more invasive on E_{late-stage}. CAFs associated with non-metastatic disease showed a significant increase in invasiveness correlating with increasing foci core stiffness (Figure 2-8E). To validate AhR protein levels, sections were immunofluorescently stained for AhR (Fig. 6A), and quantified (Figure 2-8B). Interestingly on late-stage disease stiffness, CAF-pm and CAF-pn had no significant difference in AhR total protein levels. When comparing E_{late-stage} to E_{normal}, CAF-pm had no significant change in AhR protein levels, while CAF-pn had a strong and significant increase in AhR protein suggesting a role for AhR in mechanono-response and memory. This was further validated by western blot (Figure 2-8C, D, *Si Appendix Figure 11*) and unsurprisingly, AhR chemical inhibition with clofazimine is still sufficient to decrease CAF invasion on late-stage disease-stiffened cores (*Si Appendix Figure 11*).



Figure 2-8: E_{late-stage} significantly increases AhR expression and invasion. A) Immunofluorescent staining of cellular localization of AhR (green), DAPI (blue) and actin cytoskeleton (magenta) in CAFs on E_{normal} and $E_{late-stage}$ (Scale bar, 50 µm). B) Quantification of total AhR protein levels demonstrates on $E_{late-stage}$ stiffness AhR is not significantly different between CAF-pm and CAF-pn. CAF-pm has no significant change in AhR protein levels between E_{normal} and $E_{late-stage}$, while CAF-pn has a significant increase in AhR. C) Western blot and D) quantification of AhR protein level on $E_{late-stage}$. (* p< 0.05 by unpaired t-test). E) Increased expression of AhR is closely associated with increased invasive phenotype (Biological replicate n=3, *p<0.05 by one-way ANOVA).



Si Appendix Figure 11: AhR expression is significantly increased for CAF-pn grown on late-stage disease stiffness substrate. A) Clofazimine significantly inhibits invasion at late-stage disease stiffness. B) Quantification of AhR protein expression by western blot, represented as fold-change in expression relative to the normal stiffness (n=3, p <0.05 by one-way ANOVA). C) Immunofluorescent staining of AhR (magenta), actin (green) and DAPI of HeLa cells (positive control).

2.3.4 AHR is associated with poor outcome & disease progression

Finally, to address the putative link between elevated AHR expression in CAFs and clinical prognosis, we used various datasets. We clustered tumour samples from highly fibrotic tumours in larger patient datasets. Given that AhR in epithelial cells is associated with lack of proliferation [195-197] and decreased migration [198, 199], we reasoned that using highly fibrotic tumours would enable the detection of CAF associated signatures. In cervical and pancreatic tumours, high AHR expression is associated with poor overall survival (Figure 2-9A, B). Furthermore using gene expression analysis of CAFs from the primary tumour of 26 triple negative breast cancer patients [30], demonstrated a significantly elevated expression of AHR in CAF subset associated with motility and invasion [31] (Figure 2-9C). Using gene expression analysis of normal fibroblasts, CAFs isolated from the primary tumour and CAFs isolated from the metastatic site [217], AHR RNA levels progressively increase from normal to primary to metastatic CAFs (Figure 2-9D). Taken together, this evidence suggests that high AHR expressing CAFs not only increase with disease progression, but also play a key role in leading to downstream metastatic spread.



Figure 2-9: High levels of AhR expression in cancer associated fibroblasts are associated with disease progression and motility in triple negative breast cancer patients. A, B) Kaplan-Meier analyses of highly fibrotic cancers, A) cervical cancer (n=82) and B) pancreatic cancer (n=178), associated AHR expression with overall survival (HR = hazard ratio, P value is denoted, and doted lines represent 95% confidence interval). C) AHR is significantly elevated in triple negative breast cancer tumour subtype S4 (motile CAF subpopulation) in comparison to S1 (immunosuppressive CAF subpopulation). D) AHR expression increases with disease state in the primary and metastatic tumours (p<0.05, by unpaired t-test).

CHAPTER 3 : DISCUSSION

3.1 SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

CAF activation has been shown to correlate with aggressiveness of TNBC patient disease and to functionally promote downstream cancer cell metastasis [26, 30]. Here by developing a sequentially deconstructed experimental culture model of fibroblastic activity that recapitulates formation of foci-like microdomains in the tumor microenvironment, we demonstrate that CAFs isolated from primary TNBC have distinct contractility, invasion and mechanosensing abilities that depend on disease state; where CAFs isolated from primary TNBC with lymph node dissemination are no longer dependent on mechanical cues to prompt invasive phenotypes. By comparing the transcriptomes of both CAF subsets by RNA-seq analysis, uniquely in 3D mechanically controlled assays, we confirm CAFs from primary tumours of patients with lymph-node metastasis have distinct transcriptional responses to substrate stiffness. In particular, we find a role for Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor (AhR) in facilitating CAF invasion and validate its clinical significance. This indicates that in the primary tumour, CAFs with increased AhR protein levels are more invasive, and these CAFs retain these behaviors independent of mechanobiological activation cues.

We first highlight in Chapter 2.1, using a microscale contraction and invasion assay, CAFs from primary tumours, isolated from patients presenting with lymph node metastasis have enhanced contractility and invasive abilities. Consistent with our findings, others have shown similar increases in both collagen contraction and invasion of murine fibroblasts, as a function of

premalignant through malignant transitions [99, 179], and our work confirms this functional phenotype for fibroblasts isolated from human patients.

Using hydrogel-based tissue engineering strategies, we recapitulate fibrotic foci with cores of tunable stiffness. This approach effectively separates the process of fibrotic foci formation from invasion, while allowing independent control over mechanical cues presented to the CAFs. Using we demonstrate that CAFs become increasingly unresponsive to this strategy, microenvironmental mechanical cues as disease progresses: while CAFs from patients without metastatic disease can be mechanically induced to invade, CAFs derived from patients with axillary lymph node metastasis are intrinsically invasive. Collectively, this functional in vitro phenotype is consistent with previous studies demonstrating that various degrees of CAF activation occur in vivo, where early lesions are infiltrated or encircled by tumour suppressive fibroblasts [24, 125] and that subsequent events drive transition towards pro-tumorigenic fibroblasts [25]. Our findings capture phenotypes inherent to CAFs regardless of cancer cell cues, as others have shown co-culture changes CAF activation, secretion and invasive behaviors [49, 218]. The data presented here therefore adds an understanding that CAFs that become mechano-insensitive retain this phenotype in culture independent of cancer cell cues, possibly reflecting an irreversible transition during in vivo disease progression.

In Chapter 2.2, by transcriptomic analysis, we confirm CAF-pm are unresponsive to changes in mechanical cues and this correlates with elevated AhR gene expression and proteins levels. In Chapter 2.3, we highlight the role of AhR in facilitating CAF-pm invasion, consistent with previous

studies showing AhR activation can facilitate fibroblast migration and invasion [199, 200]. Interestingly however, AhR activation is associated with a non-fibrotic and non-responsive TGFβ phenotype [211, 219], where AhR knockout mouse fibroblasts elicit higher levels of TGF-β secretion [198]. However, given that we established AhR protein levels were mechanoresponsive in CAFs derived from patients without metastatic disease (CAF-pn), where high stiffness increases AhR levels, we hypothesize that AhR low cells represent early stages of disease progression. Based on this data and previous literature, we therefore propose that high AhR expression in CAFs is secondary to generating a stiffened microenvironment, whereby TGF-β responsive CAFs can contract, remodel and secrete ECM over time to increase matrix stiffness [174, 175, 177]. Notably in CAF-pn, genes associated with fibrosis are uniquely upregulated (Figure 2-6B, Figure 3-1A), suggesting they are generating a pro-fibrotic tumour microenvironment. As disease progresses and microenvironmental stiffness increases, AhR expression increases, inhibiting profibrotic mechanisms where it becomes pro-invasive and mechano-insensitive (Figure 3-1). This is consistent with previous studies showing CAFs have potential to transition from one state to another [32, 53]. In particular, Wang et al. identified CAF interconversion by analyzing PDAC by single-cell RNAseq. While AhR was not significantly differentially expressed in their publicly available dataset, CAFs associated with dense fibrotic PDAC (C3) could convert into, clusters (C0 and C4) with elevated CYP1B1, a read out of AhR activation, where cluster 4 was associated with tumours with worsened prognosis [220].



Figure 3-1: Contraction inducing stiffening generates and maintains AhR high, mechanically independent CAF invasion. A) Schematic outlining the role of AhR in blocking TGF6 induced collagen deposition and myofibroblast formation. B) Model outlining the role of contraction-induced stiffening in the generation and maintenance of AhR high, mechanically independent CAF invasion.

Moreover, in support of the model, it is possible that CAFs are displaying memory, created or imprinted by the patient tumour state. Mechanical memory is a 2D tissue culture concept that cells retain behavioral features of previous mechanical environments, whereby pre-exposure to stiff mechanical ques, delays cell response to environments with different properties. Previous work highlights that extended exposure to stiffness can permanently transition lung fibroblasts to myofibroblast state [123], or bias mesenchymal stem cell differentiation [123, 221]. Other studies suggest that several mechanisms that contribute to matrix stiffening also promote positive feedback loops that generate and keep CAFs in an activated state [99, 222]. Therefore, it seems likely that extended exposure to a possibly self-generated, highly stiffened matrix may also foster CAFs to adapt into an irreversible, non-mechanosensitive, high AhR expressing cellular state. Previous studies suggest that several mechanisms that contribute to matrix stiffening also promote positive feedback loops that generate and keep CAFs in an activated state [99, 222]. and our current work suggests these feedback loops may also be involved in CAF activation and AhR expression *in vitro*.

The multi-stage deconstructed culture model presented in Chapter 2.1, overcomes several key challenges in studying CAFs in a patient-specific and physiologically relevant manner. First, CAFs were obtained without selection against pre-specified biomarkers. Other studies in this area commonly isolate primary CAFs using specific combinations of molecular markers, which therefore only capture a fraction of the complexity inherent in CAF populations [49, 78]. Moreover, these studies are largely limited to immortalized fibroblasts of cancerous and non-cancerous origins, known to acquire functional, genetic and epigenetic changes during virus-

based immortalization and prolonged culture *in vitro* [223-226]. For example, Costa *et al.* recently demonstrated that two CAF subtypes can accumulate differentially in TNBC, but that these subtypes do not correlate with patient survival [30]. Here by using non-immortalized, non-selected CAFs, in relatively limited numbers needed for our initial microscale 3D assays (Figure 2-2A, Figure 2-4A) and RNA-seq experiments (Figure 2-5A), we were able to correlate patient disease state with CAF functional characteristics. Given the limited cell material available and needed by these assays, these 3D models may ultimately allow high-throughput screening of functional activity in primary CAFs, to identify drug targets for patient-specific therapeutic development.

3.2 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Some limitations must be considered in interpreting the results of this work. First, the present *in vitro* models lack the dynamics of stiffening and fibrotic foci formation that likely occur *in vivo*, where the stiffening process itself may have a different impact than the end stiffness alone [227]. Second, validating this proposed model of CAF activation *in vivo* will be challenging, due to the lack of suitable animal models and the difficulties associated with controlling changes in live fibrotic foci stiffness. Further, due to the complexity of obtaining and culturing non-immortalized CAFs, the cohort is limited to 4 patient samples that were immortalized for the purposes of validating the RNA-seq.

While these findings provide evidence for a role of AHR in fibroblast driven disease progression and are therefore novel, the mechanism for overexpression of AHR in CAFs remains to be elucidated. In this study we did not include or consider the effect of cancerous epithelial cells in dictating the expression of AHR or the potential of epigenetic changes in CAFs. It seems plausible that cancerous epithelial cells can produce ligands or soluble factors responsible for activating AHR. Future experiments should involve culturing CAFs with tumoral epithelial cells and associated conditioned media from patients with CAFs expressing high levels of AhR (CAF-pm1, CAF-pm2).

Moreover, the mechanism for constitutive, mechano-insensitive activation of AHR and concomitant increase in invasiveness is not clear. Further studies are warranted to explore i) if priming CAFs with 3D *in vitro* stiffness can lead to mechano-insensitive invasion and ii) what the

epigenetic changes are regulating AHR activation in fibroblasts. Previous studies have demonstrated AhR influences chromatin remodeling in cancerous cells through interaction with SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex [228], steroid receptor co-activator-1 complex (SRC-1) [229] and by displacing histone deacetylase complexes [230], but how this translates to CAF activation remains unknown.

This study also lacks 3D in vivo relevance, due to difficulties in correlating AHR expression levels and patient tumour stiffness. Recent data from the Moraes lab, suggests FFPE tissues lose all residual elasticity on fixation and therefore lack good methods to prob for the stiffness found in vivo. Developing more approaches to dynamically assess matrix stiffening during disease progression [168] in vivo may help to understand the interplay between CAF remodeling, AhR expression and downstream invasion. For now, one such way to investigate the role of stiffness in AhR elevation might be to profile CAFs in PDX models by immunohistochemistry or immunofluorescence against AhR, comparing levels in models with high and low degrees of fibrosis. In this model, for larger scale tissue stiffness measurements the use of shear wave elastography [216, 231] to measure in vivo tumour stiffness during tumour progression could allow for quantitating changes in elastic moduli over time to correlate with AHR expression. Although outside the scope of this work, in order to validate the correlation of stiffness and AHR in vivo, one could create a much more in-depth project by employing the use of thermally responsive hydrogel probes as previously established by our group [168] in a knock-in mouse model expressing fluorescence or bioluminescent tags with AHR expression.

The validation of AHR gene expression in this study is limited by the availability of fibroblast focused cohorts with longer-term patient follow-up. At this time, databases are largely focused on bulk or epithelial sorted tumour cell sequencing and lack the fibroblast component. Given that previous studies with AhR show upregulation of AhR inhibits proliferation of breast [195], prostate [196], and liver [197] cancer cells and its deficiency promotes epithelial cell migration [198] and metastasis [199], we chose to avoid validating AhR in these settings. Moreover, cohorts that encompass the tumour microenvironment [21] include immune cell populations which confound the data because of the various roles of AhR in immune cells [232, 233].

In future, data arising from single cell sequencing studies with long-term follow-up will be useful for validating and correlating fibroblast specific expression of AHR. Moreover, the use of single cell sequencing in CAFs might allow for identification of small subsets of CAFs expressing higher levels of AHR. It remains unknown whether it is small amounts of AHR facilitating CAF-pn invasion as seen on E_{disease}, or another mechanism at hand.

3.3 CONSIDERATIONS FOR CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF AHR

The lack of mechanoresponsiveness in AhR expressing CAFs, provides reasoning as to why drugs aimed at reducing microenvironmental stiffening have previously failed in clinical trials. However, given the varied roles AhR plays in different cell populations (outlined in 3.2) [195-199, 232, 233], simply targeting AhR may prove harmful and difficult.

Most research on AhR has extensively focused on its response to man-made chemical pollutants, like polycyclic aromatic hydrogens, with a strong emphasis on the human carcinogen 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (colloquially termed dioxin, or TCDD), a high affinity ligand. Interestingly AhR is evolutionarily conserved across vertebrates and invertebrates, yet AhR in invertebrates cannot bind dioxin or other polyaromatic hydrocarbons, suggesting it is important for other development processes and maintaining physiological functions. For example, i) in *D. melanogaster* the AhR protein homologue, spineless, is required for eye, leg and wing development [234], and ii) in *C. elegans* AHR-1 is essential for neuronal differentiation and migration [235, 236]. Given this, the current view in the field is that xenobiotic dependent AhR function represents an adaptative mechanism in vertebrates, that overlaps with physiologically conserved roles. Therefore, a deeper understanding the role of AhR in homeostasis and development may be necessary before therapeutically targeting it.

Moreover, using transgenic mouse models, a number of studies support a role for AhR in key physiological and homeostatic roles in the body; AhR null mice (AhR-/-) show developmental defects in hepatic [237, 238], hematopoietic [239], detoxification [240], and immune [238]

systems. In the liver, AhR has been shown to regulate metabolism, where it's inhibition in mouse models leads to significant weight gain [241, 242]. Given the correlation between obesity and cancer [243-247], obesity as a side effect of inhibiting AhR should be explored carefully. Moreover, AhR-/- mice develop extensive fibrosis in the heart and kidneys [248] as well as heart defects [239, 249]. While fibrosis has been demonstrated to have a caging effect in cancer[24, 125], the full body ramifications of this make it difficult to inhibit AhR. Perhaps with the growth in nano-based drug delivery technologies and therefore more localized treatments, specifically inhibiting AhR in CAFs may prove a viable target.

Moreover while environmental toxicants bind AhR with high affinity, more recent work has demonstrated naturally derived endogenous ligands play a role in cell cycle regulation [250], cell differentiation [251] and immune response [238, 251-253]. These natural ligands can come from host metabolic breakdown, microbiota and dietary intake, where the majority of dietary AhR ligands are plant derived [214, 254-256]. Interestingly recent research highlights links between AhR levels and gut microbiota; AHR expression is attenuated in germ free mice, suggesting AhR acts as a mediator in communication between host and gut microbiota [257]. With a growing interest in microbiome mediated cancer cell response and therapy resistance, connecting microbiome-cancer axis with AhR protein levels may help to understand it's mechanisms of activation and signaling for the purpose of therapeutically targeting.

3.4 CONCLUSIONS

Unfortunately, nearly 25 years after the initial studies showing the physiological relevance of 3D culture systems [122, 258, 259], the vast majority of cancer biology research is still in 2D. This is likely due to the ease of culture, growth, and biochemical testing in 2D systems as well as the relative success of these technologies in identifying useful molecules. However, it would appear that the low-hanging fruit of easily identifiable therapeutic molecules have already been identified, as evidenced by the dwindling number of novel therapeutic discoveries, despite increases in economic resources allocated to this problem [260]. Furthermore, the poor clinical translatability for many seemingly promising drugs suggests that 2D systems are no longer sufficient in this area, and that more complex 3D culture systems will be required to identify nextgeneration therapeutics. Moving forward, I believe advanced technologies like those presented in this thesis will help bridge this gap, in improving the physiological relevance of discoveries, while also improving the ease of setting up, operating, and data analysis. Moreover, I anticipate the inclusion of immune cell populations will become more and more important, as numerous recent studies have demonstrated a key role for immune cells in tumour progression [26, 68, 72, 73, 261]. Given that there are small subsets of patients who respond to immune checkpoint inhibitors [262], perhaps other microenvironmental factors dictate patient responsiveness to checkpoint blockade. Recent findings are demonstrating that CAFs may be critically important in these microenvironmental feature sets that drive immune evasion [30, 67, 70, 71, 263-268], and so these advanced discovery systems may better pair patient populations with successful therapeutics. The consideration of immune cell infiltration in future cancer biology studies will be significant.

The presented data highlights the importance of contraction-induced mechanical remodeling by CAFs in triple negative breast cancers. Here I have demonstrated that subsets of CAFs in primary TNBC tumours, transition to a state where they are expressing pro-invasive transcriptional factor AhR and therefore invade regardless of microenvironmental stiffness cues. The high expression of AhR in tumours with lymph node dissemination may explain why drugs aimed at reducing CAF contractility and microenvironmental stiffening fail to improve cancer outcomes [36, 269], as CAFs are inherently invasive. Patient levels of AhR at time of surgery may therefore be a useful screening strategy to identify patients likely to present with metastasis and those who might respond to therapies aimed at mechanically inactivating CAFs. Furthermore, the data highlights the importance of the physical properties of fibrotic cores observed in poor outcome TNBC in vivo and underscores the necessity to study the tumour microenvironment in models of physiologically relevant stiffness. These findings broadly suggest that integrative multidisciplinary knowledge of CAF mechanical state is important in developing and testing novel therapeutics or biomarkers. Ultimately because of this process, patient stratification based on AHR expression represents a strategy to identify patients at risk for lymph node dissemination.

CHAPTER 4 : METHODS

Unless otherwise stated, all cell culture materials and supplies were purchased from Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, ON) and chemicals from Sigma Aldrich (Oakville, ON).

4.1 Clinical samples and human CAFs

Tumour specimens and tissue samples used in this study were obtained with informed consent from all subjects and in accordance with the McGill University Health Center research ethics board (SUR-99-780). For the purposes of this study, samples were selected according to clinically documented lack of expression or amplification of estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and human epidermal growth factor receptor2 (HER2); a histological subtype assignment of IDC (not otherwise specific [NOS]). Briefly, CAFs were harvested from dissociated tumour suspensions by centrifugation at 500xg for 5 minutes at 4 °C and plated on collagen coated plates. This was done to minimize selection of CAFs by markers, as it is widely described that no one marker is exclusive to, or encompasses all, activated fibroblasts [25]. To best maintain the heterogeneity of the CAF population, they were cultured on collagen coated tissue culture plastic, to a maximum of 10 passages.

4.2 Cell culture

CAFs were isolated from patients as described above and grown on collagen coated tissue culture plates. They were cultured in fully supplemented Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), 50 μ g/mL gentamicin, 2.5 μ g/mL amphotericin B) at 20% O₂,

5% CO₂. Experiments were carried out at 3% O₂, and 5% CO₂. Post RNA-sequencing analysis CAFs were immortalized with pLVX-SV40-LT-IRES-tdTomato, generously gifted from Dr. David Tuveson's lab.

Functionalized polyacrylamide beads were dispensed 1 per well in ultra-low attachment, 96 well plates. CAFs were collected at 150,000 c/mL in complete media, dispensed into each bead containing well, resuspended to ensure sufficient coating (4 x 15min) and incubated overnight at 37°C. CAF coated polyacrylamide beads were overlaid with collagen as previously described. Tissues were incubated for 48 hours, fixed, stained, and imaged as previously described. Cell invasion and distance was quantified as previously described. Due to the heterogeneity of CAFs, outliers were removed using the 1.5xIQR rule.

4.3 *Immunofluorescence on human tissue sections*

Immunofluorescence staining of nuclei and actin cytoskeleton was performed by fixing sections in 4% PFA. FFPE tissue was deparaffinized and underwent heat-mediated antigen retrieval in citrate buffer pH6.0 or EDTA buffer pH9.0. Slides were blocked with Power Block (Biogenex, San Ramon, CA, United States) for 5 min at room temperature and incubated with the primary antibody for 30 min at room temperature followed by washing with TBST (3 x 3 min). Slides were incubated with secondary antibody-HRP for 30 min at room temperature, washing with TBST (3 x 3 min) and stained with Opal fluorophore working solution for 10 min. This was followed by heat-mediated antibody stripping to remove the primary and secondary antibodies to repeat additional rounds for labeling with other primary antibodies. The primary antibodies are αSMA (Cat# M0851, DAKO (Glostrup, Denmark)), Vimentin (Cat# 760-2512, Ventana (Oro Valley, AR, United State)), Pan-Keratin (Cat# 760-2595, Ventana (Oro Valley, AR, United States)). The antibody specificity and dilution were tested before multiplex assay. Tissue images were captured using AxioScan Z1 scanner. Quantification was done using Tissue Classifier Add-on, and Area Quantification FL from HALO v 3.1.1076.

4.4 Collagen Contraction and Invasion Assay

Free floating collagen microdroplets were fabricated using an aqueous two-phase droplet printing technique by an automated liquid handler. The 2 aqueous phases, poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) and dextran were prepared as follows. 35 kDa PEG (Sigma-Aldrich, 94646) at a concentration of 6% w/v in supplemented DMEM was sterile filtered through a 0.22 µm pore size sterile filter cup. 500 kDa dextran (www.dextran.ca) at a concentration of 20% w/v in sterile RO water was sterilized under UV light for 45 min. Solution were stored at 4 °C when not in use. Free floating collagen droplets were generated as previously described [120]. Briefly, CAFs were passaged at 90% confluency, centrifuged at 800RPM for 5 min and resuspended at a final concentration of 2.7 x 10⁶ cells/mL in collagen and supplemented DMEM containing 15% v/v dextran solution. 100 µL of PEG solution was robotically dispensed into each well of a round bottom 96-well plate by an automated liquid handler (Pipetmax, Gilson (Middleton, Wisconsin)). 2 µL of cell-laden dextran-collagen solution was robotically dispensed into each well. The plate was incubated at 37 °C for 60 min to allow collagen gelation. After gelation, PEG-rich DMEM was removed and replaced with 100 μ L of supplemented DMEM and incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO2 over 2 days to assess contraction.

Contracted collagen microdroplets were overlaid with collagen gels to produce 3D constructs. Media was aspirated from each device and collagen was polymerized using established protocols [43]. Briefly, Type I bovine collagen (Advanced Biomatrix, 3 mg/mL) was diluted to 1.5 mg/mL in PBS and 10× DMEM solution to obtain a final 1× DMEM concentration and kept on ice. The acidic solution was neutralized with 1M NaOH by titration based on the color of the phenolphthalein indicator in DMEM. Cold collagen gel solution was dispensed over each contracted droplet and allowed to incubate at 37 °C for 45 min to gel. After gelation, 100 µl of complete media was added to each well.

4.5 Polyacrylamide core preparation

Stiffness-tunable polyacrylamide hydrogel formulations were prepared using the following acrylamide (Biorad, 1610140) to bisacrylamide (Bio-rad, 1610142) ratios with the stated nominal shear modulus values determined by shear rheology of bulk samples: 1450 Pa (3.0 wt%/0.10 wt%); 5770 Pa (7.5 wt%/0.24 wt%). To polymerize 1 mL of pre-polymer mixture, 100 μ L of 1% w/v ammonium persulfate (APS; Bio-rad, 1610700) in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and 1.5 μ L of tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED; Sigma-Aldrich, T7024) were added to initiate and catalyze the polymerization reaction.

Droplets of polyacrylamide pre-polymer with TEMED and ammonium persulfate initiator were manually dispensed, in volumes of 0.5uL and 1 uL for 400Pa and 7500Pa gels respectively, into kerosene with 6% w/v polyglycerol polyricinoleate (PGPR 4150). The hydrogel cores were allowed

to polymerize in a kerosene bath. The surfactant-rich kerosene was replaced with PBS after multiple centrifugations using Labnet Mini Centrifuge C-1200, before being left overnight at room temperature in PBS to allow for swelling. Due to the large swelling ratios of soft polymer formations, we optimized the aqueous polymer dispersion volume to produce cores of identical radius and similar in size to the starting collagen droplet from the invasion assay.

Recovered cores were resuspended in 0.05mg/mL Sulfo-SANPAH (G-Biosciences, BC38) in PBS and irradiated under UV light for 4 min to activate the cross-linker. Microspheres were rinsed with PBS, resuspended in 0.05 mg/mL collagen I (VWR, CACB354231) in PBS, and stored overnight at 4 °C. Collagen I coated microspheres were resuspended in PBS and stored at 4 °C until use.

4.6 Stiffness readings with microsquisher

Parallel plate compression testing was performed on polyacrylamide cores with a MicroSquisher (CellScale Biomaterials Testing Inc. (Kitchener, ON, Canada) to determine their elastic moduli. Samples were loaded onto the instrument and then core diameter was measured under its magnification. Samples were compressed at a rate of 10 μ m/s by at least 20% [nominal] strain, and data was collected at a rate of 5 Hz.

Elastic moduli were calculated in R computing environment as follows. Core diameter was used to calculate cross-sectional area as an estimate of the area in contact with the compressing plate, and nominal stress was calculated by dividing the force data output from the MicroSquisher by this calculated contact area. Nominal strain was calculated from displacement data by dividing the change in sample height at each collected time-point by its initial height. Plots of stress as a function of strain were generated, and linear regression was used to calculate the slope of the curve for data from 0-10% strain, yielding an estimate of the elastic modulus.

4.7 Fluorescent labelling of polyacrylamide cores

Collagen I functionalization was verified with anti-collagen I mouse primary antibody (ab6308, Abcam (Cambridge, United Kingdom)) and goat anti-mouse secondary antibody tagged with Alexafluor 594 (ab150116, Abcam (Cambridge, United Kingdom). CAFs in microdroplet or on polyacrylamide core assays were stained with DAPI and Alexafluor546 Phalloidin (A22283, Invitrogen (Carslbad, CA, United States). For viability assays, CAFs were cultured on polyacrylamide core of normal and diseased stiffness and the surrounding media was replaced with 4 μ M Calcein-AM and 2 μ M Ethidium Homodimer (EtHD) in PBS for 30 minutes. The media was washed and droplets were fluorescently imaged to assess viability.

4.8 RNA sequencing

CAF-pm1, CAF-pm2, CAF-pn1 and CAF-pn2 cultured on matrices of various stiffnesses as indicated were collected, and the total RNA was extracted using RNAeasy kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. High RNA quality was verified using the Bioanalyzer RNA 6000 Nano assay (Agilent). cDNA was PCR amplified for 18 cycles using poly T primer. All cDNA was produced the same day to avoid batch effects. The final sequence ready library was generated using Illumina DNA Prep and IDT for Illumina DNA/RNA UD Indexes. The sequencing-ready library was cleaned up with SPRIselect and quantified by qPCR (KAPA Biosystems Library Quantification Kit

for Illumina platforms). 1 nM sequencing libraries were loaded on an Illumina HiSeq Instruments and ran using the following parameter: 151 bp Read1, 8 bp I7 Index, 8 bp I5 Index and 151 bp Read2.

Adaptor sequences and low-quality score bases (Phred score < 30) were first trimmed using Trimmomatic (Bolger et al., 2014). The resulting reads were aligned to the GRCh38 human reference genome assembly, using STAR (Dobin et al., 2012). Read counts were obtained using HTSeq (Anders et al 2015) with parameters -m intersection-nonempty -stranded=no. For all downstream analyses, we excluded lowly-expressed genes with an average read count lower than 10 across all samples. Raw counts were normalized using edgeR's TMM algorithm (Robinson et al., 2010) and were then transformed to log₂-counts per million (logCPM) using the voom function implemented in the limma R package (Ritchie et al., 2015). To assess differences in gene expression levels, we fitted a linear model with the covariates Patient_ID and Mycoplasma_Contamination_Rate using limma's lmfit function (method = "robust"). Nominal p-values were adjusted for multiple testing using the Storey's Q-values method (R package qvalue; https://bioconductor.org/packages/qvalue). Gene set enrichment analysis (pre-ranked mode) was performed using the R package fgsea (https://bioconductor.org/packages/fgsea/).

4.9 Gene expression by quantitative PCR with reverse transcription

RNA was isolated using the RNAeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. cDNA was synthesised using the Transcriptor First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Roche) according to the manufacturer's instructions. qPCR reactions were performed using SYBR Green
I Master on a LightCycler480 (Roche). Primers sequences used are *CYP1B1* forward 5' – CCAAGAGACTCGAGTGGGAG – 3' and reverse 5' - TGCCCATGCTGCGGG – 3', and *AHR* forward 5'-TGGTTGTGATGCCAAAGGAAG – 3' and reverse 5' – ATAACCTGAGCCTCTCGTGC – 3'. GAPDH was selected as reference. Relative quantification of the expression levels was calculated according to Pfaffl method[270]. For RNA-Seq gene expression validation, the data presented represent the merge of three biological replicates for CAF-pm1, CAF-pm2, CAF-pn1 and CAF-pn2.

4.10 Western blotting

CAF lines were lysed using RIPA Lysis Buffer (50 mM Tris pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Nonidet P-40, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate supplemented with freshly added (1 mM phenylmethylfulphonyl fluoride (PMSF), 1 mM Na3VO4, 1 mM NaF, 10 µg/ml aprotinin). Whole cell lysates were resolved by SDS/PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were blocked with 5% Bovine Serum Albumin and probed with primary antibodies (AhR SA210, Enzo Life Sciences and beta-actin AC15, Sigma Aldrich) overnight at 4 °C. After TBS-Tween washes, membranes were incubated with HRP-conjugated anti-rabbit and anti-mouse secondary antibodies (Cell Signalling) for 1h at room temperature for signal detection using ChemiDoc Imaging System (Biorad) and quantified using Image Studio.

4.11 Immunofluorescence (IF) on polyacrylamide gels

Cell samples were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 min, washed with PBS three times and permeabilized with 0.2% Triton-X100 solution for 20 min. Non-specific protein adsorption was blocked with 2% bovine serum albumin in IF buffer (phosphate buffer saline with 0.2% Triton X-

100 and 0.05% Tween 20) for 30 minutes at room temperature. After washing with IF buffer, AhR primary antibody (AhR SA210, 1:100, Enzo Life Sciences) at room temperature for 2 hours and washed in IF buffer 3 times. Samples were incubated with secondary antibody (1:500, Alexa fluorophore 488 Donkey-anti-Rabbit) and phalloidin-546 (1:100, Thermofisher) for 1 hour at room temperature. Finally, samples were incubated with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (Sigma) diluted in PBS for 10 min at room temperature and washed three times with PBS. All samples were from 3 independent biological replicates, and each replicate was processed in parallel.

4.12 Chemical inhibition and activation of AhR

AhR inhibition experiments were performed adding 10 μ M or 20 μ M of Clofazimine to CAFs on beads within 3D collagen gels for 48 hours. AhR activation experiments were performed adding 100 μ M of L-kynurenine to CAFs on beads within 3D collagen gels for 48 hours.

4.13 Transfections

Transient siRNA-mediated knockdown of AHR was performed using TriFECTa RNAiKit (Integrated DNA Technologies). For siRNA experiments, cells were transfected with 10 nM siRNA lipofectamine RNAiMax (Thermo Fisher) according to manufacturer's instructions. Human aryl hydrocarbon receptor gene ORF cDNA clone, C-GFPSpark Tag was purchased through SinoBiological. Transient transfections for protein expression were performed using Invoitrogen Lipofectamine and Lipofectamine Plus according to the manufacturer's instructions, and 3D invasion assays were conducted within 3 hours post-transfection.

4.14 Short term growth and cell viability assays

Single cell suspensinos were seeded into 96-well plates and treated with DMSO, Clofazimine, sicontrol or siRNA. Cells were incubated for 72 hours imaged by Incucyte S3 and analyzed using Incucyte analysis software.

4.15 Imaging and analysis

Live collagen microgels were imaged at selected timepoints using the EVOS FL and a 4× objective. Measurement of collagen droplet area was performed by analysis of threshold images and measuring droplet size in ImageJ (NIH). Data was generated using the change in droplet size (final size divided by initial) and analyzed by one-way ANOVA. Data plotted is displayed to be representative as a percentage of contraction.

For all fixed culture experiments, fluorescent images were collected using Olympus IX73 spinning disc confocal microscope or LSM800 laser scanning confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss) using 4X and 10X or 20X objectives, respectively.

Using ImageJ invasion distances and count were quantified by nuclear count. Each cell was given a relative position within the image and used to calculate the distance to the centre of the droplet. Cell spread area was quantified using ImageJ to calculate the area of phalloidin expression relative to the number of nuclei. Percentage of viable cells on polyacrylamide beads, was calculated as the number of cells labeled with Calcein AM, divided by the total number of cells identified with Calcein AM and EtHD. Percentage of viable cells on flat assays, was calculated as the number of cells labeled with Calcein AM, divided by the total number of cells identified with DAPI.

Immunofluorescent images of AhR were analyzed using Cell Profiler v4.0 [271]. In brief, the nuclei and cell were identified (DAPI and phalloidin respectively) and masked to identify the cytoplasm only (Cell-Nuclei). AhR fluorescent intensity was quantified on a per cell basis, and reported expression in total cell, nuclei and cytoplasm. The same pipeline settings were used on all images of each immunostaining, where replicates were stained on the same day to control for fluorescent variation. 4 images were taken and analyzed per individual biological replicate.

4.16 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Prism software (GraphPad Software Inc.). Mean values and standard deviation (SD) are shown on graphs that were generated from three repeats of biological experiments. P values were obtained from t tests with unpaired samples, with significance set at p < 0.05. For paired samples, one-way ANOVA test was run, followed by a posthoc analysis using Newman-Keuls multiple comparison test, with significance set at p<0.05. Graphs show either the actual p value or symbols describing it (*, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.001).

For Kaplan–Meier analyses of AHR in cervical cancer patients and pancreatic cancer patients, the TCGA database was mined on GEPIA2 server using recommended parameters[272].

For AHR expression analysis, the breast cancer data sets from Costa, et al.[30] (EGAS00001002508) and Gui, et al. [217] (ENA number PRJEB34465) were used.

References:

- 1. Brewer G, Fortier A-M, Park M, Moraes C. The case for cancer-associated fibroblasts: essential elements in cancer drug discovery? *Future Drug Discovery* (0), FDD71 (2022).
- 2. Society CC. Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee in

collaboration with the Canadian Cancer Society, Statistics

Canada and the Public Health Agency of Canada. Canadian

Cancer Statistics 2021.

- 3. Yager JD, Davidson NE. Estrogen carcinogenesis in breast cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine* 354(3), 270-282 (2006).
- Dunnwald LK, Rossing MA, Li CI. Hormone receptor status, tumor characteristics, and prognosis: a prospective cohort of breast cancer patients. *Breast cancer research* 9(1), 1-10 (2007).
- Hammond MEH, Hayes DF, Dowsett M *et al.* American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists guideline recommendations for immunohistochemical testing of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast cancer (unabridged version). *Archives of pathology & laboratory medicine* 134(7), e48-e72 (2010).
- Harvey JM, Clark GM, Osborne CK, Allred DC. Estrogen receptor status by immunohistochemistry is superior to the ligand-binding assay for predicting response to adjuvant endocrine therapy in breast cancer. *Journal of clinical oncology* 17(5), 1474-1481 (1999).

- Wolff AC, Hammond MEH, Hicks DG *et al.* Recommendations for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 testing in breast cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists clinical practice guideline update. *Archives* of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine 138(2), 241-256 (2014).
- Norum J, Risberg T, Olsen J. A monoclonal antibody against HER-2 (trastuzumab) for metastatic breast cancer: a model-based cost-effectiveness analysis. *Annals of oncology* 16(6), 909-914 (2005).
- 9. Slamon DJ, Leyland-Jones B, Shak S *et al*. Use of chemotherapy plus a monoclonal antibody against HER2 for metastatic breast cancer that overexpresses HER2. *New England journal of medicine* 344(11), 783-792 (2001).
- 10. Bang YJ, Van Cutsem E, Feyereislova A *et al*. Trastuzumab in combination with chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone for treatment of HER2-positive advanced gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction cancer (ToGA): a phase 3, open-label, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 376(9742), 687-697 (2010).
- 11. Diéras V, Miles D, Verma S *et al.* Trastuzumab emtansine versus capecitabine plus lapatinib in patients with previously treated HER2-positive advanced breast cancer (EMILIA): a descriptive analysis of final overall survival results from a randomised, openlabel, phase 3 trial. *The Lancet Oncology* 18(6), 732-742 (2017).
- 12. Swain SM, Baselga J, Kim S-B *et al*. Pertuzumab, trastuzumab, and docetaxel in HER2positive metastatic breast cancer. *New England journal of medicine* 372(8), 724-734 (2015).

- 13. Bianchini G, Balko JM, Mayer IA, Sanders ME, Gianni L. Triple-negative breast cancer: challenges and opportunities of a heterogeneous disease. *Nature reviews Clinical oncology* 13(11), 674 (2016).
- 14. Foulkes WD, Smith IE, Reis-Filho JS. Triple-negative breast cancer. *New England journal of medicine* 363(20), 1938-1948 (2010).
- Liedtke C, Mazouni C, Hess KR *et al*. Response to neoadjuvant therapy and long-term survival in patients with triple-negative breast cancer. *Journal of clinical oncology* 26(8), 1275-1281 (2008).
- 16. Abramson VG, Mayer IA. Molecular heterogeneity of triple-negative breast cancer. *Current breast cancer reports* 6(3), 154-158 (2014).
- Bareche Y, Venet D, Ignatiadis M *et al*. Unravelling triple-negative breast cancer molecular heterogeneity using an integrative multiomic analysis. *Annals of oncology* 29(4), 895-902 (2018).
- 18. Lehmann BD, Pietenpol JA. Clinical implications of molecular heterogeneity in triple negative breast cancer. *The Breast* 24 S36-S40 (2015).
- Mayer IA, Abramson VG, Lehmann BD, Pietenpol JA. New strategies for triple-negative breast cancer—deciphering the heterogeneity. *Clinical cancer research* 20(4), 782-790 (2014).
- 20. Metzger-Filho O, Tutt A, De Azambuja E *et al*. Dissecting the heterogeneity of triplenegative breast cancer. *Journal of clinical oncology* 30(15), 1879-1887 (2012).
- 21. Finak G, Bertos N, Pepin F *et al*. Stromal gene expression predicts clinical outcome in breast cancer. *Nature medicine* 14(5), 518 (2008).

- Hanahan D, Weinberg Robert a. Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. *Cell* 144(5),
 646-674 (2011).
- 23. Elenbaas B, Weinberg RA. Heterotypic signaling between epithelial tumor cells and fibroblasts in carcinoma formation. *Experimental cell research* 264(1), 169-184 (2001).
- 24. Rhim AD, Oberstein PE, Thomas DH *et al*. Stromal elements act to restrain, rather than support, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer cell* 25(6), 735-747 (2014).
- 25. Kalluri R. The biology and function of fibroblasts in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 16(9), 582598 (2016).
- 26. Acerbi I, Cassereau L, Dean I *et al*. Human breast cancer invasion and aggression correlates with ECM stiffening and immune cell infiltration. *Integrative biology : quantitative biosciences from nano to macro* 7(10), 1120-1134 (2015).
- 27. Calon A, Lonardo E, Berenguer-Llergo A *et al.* Stromal gene expression defines poorprognosis subtypes in colorectal cancer. *Nature genetics* 47(4), 320 (2015).
- Franco-Barraza J, Francescone R, Luong T *et al*. Matrix-regulated integrin αvβ5 maintains
 α5β1-dependent desmoplastic traits prognostic of neoplastic recurrence. *Elife* 6 e20600 (2017).
- 29. Guinney J, Dienstmann R, Wang X *et al*. The consensus molecular subtypes of colorectal cancer. *Nature medicine* 21(11), 1350 (2015).
- Costa A, Kieffer Y, Scholer-Dahirel A *et al*. Fibroblast heterogeneity and immunosuppressive environment in human breast cancer. *Cancer Cell* 33(3), 463-479. e410 (2018).

- 31. Pelon F, Bourachot B, Kieffer Y *et al*. Cancer-associated fibroblast heterogeneity in axillary lymph nodes drives metastases in breast cancer through complementary mechanisms. *Nature communications* 11(1), 1-20 (2020).
- 32. Sahai E, Astsaturov I, Cukierman E *et al*. A framework for advancing our understanding of cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 1-13 (2020).
- Feldmann G, Habbe N, Dhara S *et al*. Hedgehog inhibition prolongs survival in a genetically engineered mouse model of pancreatic cancer. *Gut* 57(10), 1420-1430 (2008).
- Lee MJ, Hatton BA, Villavicencio EH *et al*. Hedgehog pathway inhibitor saridegib (IPI-926) increases lifespan in a mouse medulloblastoma model. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109(20), 7859-7864 (2012).
- Olive KP, Jacobetz MA, Davidson CJ *et al*. Inhibition of Hedgehog signaling enhances delivery of chemotherapy in a mouse model of pancreatic cancer. *Science* 324(5933), 1457-1461 (2009).
- 36. A Study Evaluating IPI-926 in Combination With Gemcitabine in Patients With Metastatic Pancreatic Cancer.
- 37. Zheng B, Ohuchida K, Chijiiwa Y *et al*. CD146 attenuation in cancer-associated fibroblasts promotes pancreatic cancer progression. *Molecular carcinogenesis* 55(11), 1560-1572 (2016).
- 38. Shintani Y, Fujiwara A, Kimura T *et al.* IL-6 secreted from cancer-associated fibroblasts mediates chemoresistance in NSCLC by increasing epithelial-mesenchymal transition signaling. *Journal of Thoracic Oncology* 11(9), 1482-1492 (2016).

- 39. Bai YP, Shang K, Chen H *et al*. FGF-1/-3/FGFR 4 signaling in cancer-associated fibroblasts promotes tumor progression in colon cancer through Erk and MMP-7. *Cancer science* 106(10), 1278-1287 (2015).
- 40. Pallangyo CK, Ziegler PK, Greten FR. IKKβ acts as a tumor suppressor in cancerassociated fibroblasts during intestinal tumorigenesis. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 212(13), 2253-2266 (2015).
- 41. Yu Y, Xiao C, Tan L, Wang Q, Li X, Feng Y. Cancer-associated fibroblasts induce epithelial– mesenchymal transition of breast cancer cells through paracrine TGF-β signalling. *British journal of cancer* 110(3), 724-732 (2014).
- 42. Wu X, Chen X, Zhou Q *et al.* Hepatocyte growth factor activates tumor stromal fibroblasts to promote tumorigenesis in gastric cancer. *Cancer Lett* 335(1), 128-135 (2013).
- 43. Yamashita M, Ogawa T, Zhang X *et al*. Role of stromal myofibroblasts in invasive breast cancer: stromal expression of alpha-smooth muscle actin correlates with worse clinical outcome. *Breast cancer* 19(2), 170-176 (2012).
- 44. Chen X, Song E. Turning foes to friends: targeting cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Nature reviews Drug discovery* 18(2), 99-115 (2019).
- 45. Lebleu VS, Kalluri R. A peek into cancer-associated fibroblasts: origins, functions and translational impact. *Disease models & mechanisms* 11(4), dmm029447 (2018).
- 46. Kaemmerer E, Loessner D, Avery VM. Addressing the tumour microenvironment in early drug discovery: a strategy to overcome drug resistance and identify novel targets for cancer therapy. *Drug Discovery Today* (2020).

- 47. Wang Z, Yang Q, Tan Y *et al*. Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts Suppress Cancer
 Development: The Other Side of the Coin. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology* 9
 146 (2021).
- 48. Liu T, Han C, Wang S *et al*. Cancer-associated fibroblasts: an emerging target of anticancer immunotherapy. *Journal of hematology & oncology* 12(1), 1-15 (2019).
- 49. Öhlund D, Handly-Santana A, Biffi G *et al*. Distinct populations of inflammatory fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in pancreatic cancer. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* jem. 20162024 (2017).
- 50. Hwang RF, Moore T, Arumugam T *et al*. Cancer-associated stromal fibroblasts promote pancreatic tumor progression. *Cancer research* 68(3), 918-926 (2008).
- Olumi AF, Grossfeld GD, Hayward SW *et al*. Carcinoma-associated fibroblasts stimulate tumor progression of initiated human epithelium. *Breast Cancer Research* 2(1), 1-1 (2000).
- 52. Orimo A, Gupta PB, Sgroi DC *et al*. Stromal fibroblasts present in invasive human breast carcinomas promote tumor growth and angiogenesis through elevated SDF-1/CXCL12 secretion. *Cell* 121(3), 335-348 (2005).
- 53. Biffi G, Oni TE, Spielman B *et al*. IL1-Induced JAK/STAT Signaling Is Antagonized by TGFβ
 to Shape CAF Heterogeneity in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. *Cancer discovery* (2018).
- 54. Bae CA, Ham I-H, Oh HJ *et al.* Inhibiting the GAS6/AXL axis suppresses tumor progression by blocking the interaction between cancer-associated fibroblasts and cancer cells in gastric carcinoma. *Gastric Cancer* 23(5), 824-836 (2020).

- 55. Kanzaki R, Naito H, Kise K *et al*. Gas6 derived from cancer-associated fibroblasts promotes migration of Axl-expressing lung cancer cells during chemotherapy. *Scientific reports* 7(1), 1-12 (2017).
- 56. Cazet AS, Hui MN, Elsworth BL *et al.* Targeting stromal remodeling and cancer stem cell plasticity overcomes chemoresistance in triple negative breast cancer. *Nature communications* 9(1), 1-18 (2018).
- 57. Bruzzese F, Hägglöf C, Leone A *et al*. Local and systemic protumorigenic effects of cancer-associated fibroblast-derived GDF15. *Cancer research* 74(13), 3408-3417 (2014).
- 58. De Wever O, Nguyen Q-D, Van Hoorde L *et al*. Tenascin-C and SF/HGF produced by myofibroblasts in vitro provide convergent pro-invasive signals to human colon cancer cells through RhoA and Rac. *The FASEB journal* 18(9), 1016-1018 (2004).
- 59. Jia C-C, Wang T-T, Liu W *et al*. Cancer-associated fibroblasts from hepatocellular carcinoma promote malignant cell proliferation by HGF secretion. *PLoS One* 8(5), e63243 (2013).
- Su S, Chen J, Yao H *et al*. CD10+ GPR77+ cancer-associated fibroblasts promote cancer formation and chemoresistance by sustaining cancer stemness. *Cell* 172(4), 841-856. e816 (2018).
- 61. Chen W-J, Ho C-C, Chang Y-L *et al*. Cancer-associated fibroblasts regulate the plasticity of lung cancer stemness via paracrine signalling. *Nature communications* 5(1), 1-17 (2014).
- 62. Vermeulen L, De Sousa E Melo F, Van Der Heijden M *et al*. Wnt activity defines colon cancer stem cells and is regulated by the microenvironment. *Nature cell biology* 12(5), 468-476 (2010).

- 63. Ham I-H, Oh HJ, Jin H *et al*. Targeting interleukin-6 as a strategy to overcome stromainduced resistance to chemotherapy in gastric cancer. *Molecular cancer* 18(1), 68 (2019).
- 64. Qiao Y, Zhang C, Li A *et al*. IL6 derived from cancer-associated fibroblasts promotes chemoresistance via CXCR7 in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncogene* 37(7), 873-883 (2018).
- 65. Zhang H, Deng T, Liu R *et al*. CAF secreted miR-522 suppresses ferroptosis and promotes acquired chemo-resistance in gastric cancer. *Molecular cancer* 19(1), 1-17 (2020).
- 66. Sun Y, Zhu D, Chen F *et al.* SFRP2 augments WNT16B signaling to promote therapeutic resistance in the damaged tumor microenvironment. *Oncogene* 35(33), 4321-4334 (2016).
- 67. Feig C, Jones JO, Kraman M *et al*. Targeting CXCL12 from FAP-expressing carcinomaassociated fibroblasts synergizes with anti–PD-L1 immunotherapy in pancreatic cancer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110(50), 20212-20217 (2013).
- 68. Chen IX, Chauhan VP, Posada J *et al*. Blocking CXCR4 alleviates desmoplasia, increases Tlymphocyte infiltration, and improves immunotherapy in metastatic breast cancer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 116(10), 4558-4566 (2019).
- 69. Biasci D, Smoragiewicz M, Connell CM *et al*. CXCR4 inhibition in human pancreatic and colorectal cancers induces an integrated immune response. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 117(46), 28960-28970 (2020).
- Mariathasan S, Turley SJ, Nickles D *et al*. TGFβ attenuates tumour response to PD-L1
 blockade by contributing to exclusion of T cells. *Nature* 554(7693), 544-548 (2018).

- 71. Tauriello DV, Palomo-Ponce S, Stork D *et al*. TGFβ drives immune evasion in genetically reconstituted colon cancer metastasis. *Nature* 554(7693), 538-543 (2018).
- 72. Gruosso T, Gigoux M, Manem VSK *et al*. Spatially distinct tumor immune microenvironments stratify triple-negative breast cancers. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 129(4), 1785-1800 (2019).
- 73. Lind H, Gameiro SR, Jochems C *et al*. Dual targeting of TGF-β and PD-L1 via a bifunctional anti-PD-L1/TGF-βRII agent: status of preclinical and clinical advances. *Journal for immunotherapy of cancer* 8(1), (2020).
- 74. Hirata E, Girotti MR, Viros A *et al*. Intravital imaging reveals how BRAF inhibition generates drug-tolerant microenvironments with high integrin β1/FAK signaling. *Cancer cell* 27(4), 574-588 (2015).
- 75. Fedorenko IV, Wargo JA, Flaherty KT, Messina JL, Smalley KS. BRAF inhibition generates a host–tumor niche that mediates therapeutic escape. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 135(12), 3115-3124 (2015).
- 76. Straussman R, Morikawa T, Shee K *et al*. Tumour micro-environment elicits innate resistance to RAF inhibitors through HGF secretion. *Nature* 487(7408), 500-504 (2012).
- 77. Straub JM, New J, Hamilton CD, Lominska C, Shnayder Y, Thomas SM. Radiation-induced fibrosis: mechanisms and implications for therapy. *Journal of cancer research and clinical oncology* 141(11), 1985-1994 (2015).
- 78. Öhlund D, Elyada E, Tuveson D. Fibroblast heterogeneity in the cancer wound. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 211(8), 1503-1523 (2014).

- 79. Sugimoto H, Mundel TM, Kieran MW, Kalluri R. Identification of fibroblast heterogeneity in the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer biology & therapy* 5(12), 1640-1646 (2006).
- 80. Becker LM, O'connell JT, Vo AP *et al*. Epigenetic reprogramming of cancer-associated fibroblasts deregulates glucose metabolism and facilitates progression of breast cancer. *Cell reports* 31(9), 107701 (2020).
- 81. Chen S, Giannakou A, Wyman S *et al*. Cancer-associated fibroblasts suppress SOX2induced dysplasia in a lung squamous cancer coculture. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115(50), E11671-E11680 (2018).
- 82. Bauer M, Su G, Casper C, He R, Rehrauer W, Friedl A. Heterogeneity of gene expression in stromal fibroblasts of human breast carcinomas and normal breast. *Oncogene* 29(12), 1732 (2010).
- 83. Orimo A, Weinberg RA. Heterogeneity of stromal fibroblasts in tumor. *Cancer biology & therapy* 6(4), 618-619 (2007).
- 84. Hussain A, Voisin V, Poon S *et al*. Distinct fibroblast functional states drive clinical outcomes in ovarian cancer and are regulated by TCF21. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 217(8), (2020).
- 85. Jia D, Park JH, Jung KH, Levine H, Kaipparettu BA. Elucidating the metabolic plasticity of cancer: mitochondrial reprogramming and hybrid metabolic states. *Cells* 7(3), 21 (2018).
- 86. Elyada E, Bolisetty M, Laise P *et al*. Cross-species single-cell analysis of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma reveals antigen-presenting cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Cancer discovery* 9(8), 1102-1123 (2019).

- 87. Chung HC, Cho EJ, Lee H *et al.* Integrated single-cell RNA sequencing analyses suggest developmental paths of cancer-associated fibroblasts with gene expression dynamics. *Clinical and translational medicine* 11(7), (2021).
- 88. Kieffer Y, Hocine HR, Gentric G *et al.* Single-cell analysis reveals fibroblast clusters linked to immunotherapy resistance in cancer. *Cancer Discovery* 10(9), 1330-1351 (2020).
- 89. Bartoschek M, Oskolkov N, Bocci M *et al*. Spatially and functionally distinct subclasses of breast cancer-associated fibroblasts revealed by single cell RNA sequencing. *Nature communications* 9(1), 1-13 (2018).
- 90. Chen Z, Zhou L, Liu L *et al*. Single-cell RNA sequencing highlights the role of inflammatory cancer-associated fibroblasts in bladder urothelial carcinoma. *Nature communications* 11(1), 1-12 (2020).
- 91. Miyake T, Kalluri R. Cell plasticity helps hearts to repair. *Nature* 514(7524), 575-576 (2014).
- 92. Ubil E, Duan J, Pillai IC *et al*. Mesenchymal–endothelial transition contributes to cardiac neovascularization. *Nature* 514(7524), 585-590 (2014).
- 93. Lorenz K, Sicker M, Schmelzer E *et al.* Multilineage differentiation potential of human dermal skin-derived fibroblasts. *Experimental dermatology* 17(11), 925-932 (2008).
- 94. Elwakeel E, Brüggemann M, Fink AF *et al*. Phenotypic plasticity of fibroblasts during mammary carcinoma development. *International journal of molecular sciences* 20(18), 4438 (2019).

- 95. Biffi G, Oni TE, Spielman B *et al*. IL1-induced JAK/STAT signaling is antagonized by TGFβ
 to shape CAF heterogeneity in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer discovery* 9(2),
 282-301 (2019).
- 96. Lochter A, Galosy S, Muschler J, Freedman N, Werb Z, Bissell MJ. Matrix metalloproteinase stromelysin-1 triggers a cascade of molecular alterations that leads to stable epithelial-to-mesenchymal conversion and a premalignant phenotype in mammary epithelial cells. *The Journal of cell biology* 139(7), 1861-1872 (1997).
- 97. Boire A, Covic L, Agarwal A, Jacques S, Sherifi S, Kuliopulos A. PAR1 is a matrix metalloprotease-1 receptor that promotes invasion and tumorigenesis of breast cancer cells. *Cell* 120(3), 303-313 (2005).
- 98. Gaggioli C, Hooper S, Hidalgo-Carcedo C *et al*. Fibroblast-led collective invasion of carcinoma cells with differing roles for RhoGTPases in leading and following cells. *Nature Cell Biology* 9 1392 (2007).
- 99. Calvo F, Ege N, Grande-Garcia A *et al.* Mechanotransduction and YAP-dependent matrix remodelling is required for the generation and maintenance of cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Nat Cell Biol* 15(6), 637-646 (2013).
- 100. Labernadie A, Kato T, Brugués A *et al.* A mechanically active heterotypic E-cadherin/Ncadherin adhesion enables fibroblasts to drive cancer cell invasion. *Nature cell biology* 19(3), 224 (2017).
- 101. Li Q, Chen C, Kapadia A *et al.* 3D models of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer metastasis: high-throughput screening assay development, validation, and pilot screen. *Journal of biomolecular screening* 16(2), 141-154 (2011).

- 102. Adanja I, Debeir O, Mégalizzi V, Kiss R, Warzée N, Decaestecker C. Automated tracking of unmarked cells migrating in three-dimensional matrices applied to anti-cancer drug screening. *Experimental cell research* 316(2), 181-193 (2010).
- 103. Echeverria V, Meyvantsson I, Skoien A, Worzella T, Lamers C, Hayes S. An automated high-content assay for tumor cell migration through 3-dimensional matrices. *Journal of biomolecular screening* 15(9), 1144-1151 (2010).
- 104. Ort C, Lee W, Kalashnikov N, Moraes C. Disentangling the fibrous microenvironment: designer culture models for improved drug discovery. *Expert Opinion on Drug Discovery* 1-13 (2020).
- 105. Jechlinger M, Podsypanina K, Varmus H. Regulation of transgenes in three-dimensional cultures of primary mouse mammary cells demonstrates oncogene dependence and identifies cells that survive deinduction. *Genes & development* 23(14), 1677-1688 (2009).
- 106. Debnath J, Brugge JS. Modelling glandular epithelial cancers in three-dimensional cultures. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 5(9), 675-688 (2005).
- 107. Debnath J, Muthuswamy SK, Brugge JS. Morphogenesis and oncogenesis of MCF-10A mammary epithelial acini grown in three-dimensional basement membrane cultures. *Methods.* 30 (2003).
- 108. Weaver VM, Petersen O, Wang F *et al.* Reversion of the malignant phenotype of human breast cells in three-dimensional culture and in vivo by integrin blocking antibodies. *The Journal of cell biology* 137(1), 231-245 (1997).

- 109. Schmeichel KL, Bissell MJ. Modeling tissue-specific signaling and organ function in three dimensions. *Journal of cell science* 116(12), 2377-2388 (2003).
- 110. Provenzano PP, Inman DR, Eliceiri KW *et al*. Collagen density promotes mammary tumor initiation and progression. *BMC medicine* 6(1), 1-15 (2008).
- Provenzano PP, Eliceiri KW, Campbell JM, Inman DR, White JG, Keely PJ. Collagen
 reorganization at the tumor-stromal interface facilitates local invasion. *BMC medicine* 4(1), 38 (2006).
- 112. Lopez JI, Kang I, You W-K, Mcdonald DM, Weaver VM. In situ force mapping of mammary gland transformation. *Integrative Biology* 3(9), 910-921 (2011).
- 113. Levental KR, Yu H, Kass L *et al*. Matrix crosslinking forces tumor progression by enhancing integrin signaling. *Cell* 139(5), 891-906 (2009).
- 114. Pickup MW, Laklai H, Acerbi I *et al*. Stromally derived lysyl oxidase promotes metastasis of transforming growth factor-β–deficient mouse mammary carcinomas. *Cancer research* 73(17), 5336-5346 (2013).
- 115. Medina SH, Bush B, Cam M *et al*. Identification of a mechanogenetic link between substrate stiffness and chemotherapeutic response in breast cancer. *Biomaterials* 202 1-11 (2019).
- 116. Shin J-W, Mooney DJ. Extracellular matrix stiffness causes systematic variations in proliferation and chemosensitivity in myeloid leukemias. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 113(43), 12126-12131 (2016).

- 117. Ort C, Chen Y, Ghagre A, Ehrlicher A, Moraes C. Bioprintable, Stiffness-Tunable Collagen-Alginate Microgels for Increased Throughput 3D Cell Culture Studies. *ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering* (2021).
- 118. Joyce MH, Lu C, James ER *et al*. Phenotypic basis for matrix stiffness-dependent chemoresistance of breast cancer cells to doxorubicin. *Frontiers in oncology* 8 337 (2018).
- Rice A, Cortes E, Lachowski D *et al*. Matrix stiffness induces epithelial–mesenchymal transition and promotes chemoresistance in pancreatic cancer cells. *Oncogenesis* 6(7), e352-e352 (2017).
- 120. Moraes C, Simon AB, Putnam AJ, Takayama S. Aqueous two-phase printing of cellcontaining contractile collagen microgels. *Biomaterials* 34(37), 9623-9631 (2013).
- 121. Langhans SA. Three-dimensional in vitro cell culture models in drug discovery and drug repositioning. *Frontiers in pharmacology* 9 6 (2018).
- 122. Cukierman E, Pankov R, Stevens DR, Yamada KM. Taking cell-matrix adhesions to the third dimension. *Science* 294(5547), 1708-1712 (2001).
- 123. Balestrini JL, Chaudhry S, Sarrazy V, Koehler A, Hinz B. The mechanical memory of lung myofibroblasts. *Integrative Biology* 4(4), 410-421 (2012).
- 124. Sung KE, Su X, Berthier E, Pehlke C, Friedl A, Beebe DJ. Understanding the impact of 2D and 3D fibroblast cultures on in vitro breast cancer models. *PloS one* 8(10), e76373 (2013).

- 125. Özdemir BC, Pentcheva-Hoang T, Carstens JL *et al*. Depletion of carcinoma-associated fibroblasts and fibrosis induces immunosuppression and accelerates pancreas cancer with reduced survival. *Cancer Cell* 28(6), 831-833 (2015).
- 126. Zhang J, Chen L, Liu X, Kammertoens T, Blankenstein T, Qin Z. Fibroblast-specific protein 1/S100A4–positive cells prevent carcinoma through collagen production and encapsulation of carcinogens. *Cancer research* 73(9), 2770-2781 (2013).
- 127. Gerling M, Büller NV, Kirn LM *et al.* Stromal Hedgehog signalling is downregulated in colon cancer and its restoration restrains tumour growth. *Nature communications* 7(1), 1-17 (2016).
- 128. Bachem MG, Schünemann M, Ramadani M *et al*. Pancreatic carcinoma cells induce fibrosis by stimulating proliferation and matrix synthesis of stellate cells. *Gastroenterology* 128(4), 907-921 (2005).
- 129. Sousa CM, Biancur DE, Wang X *et al.* Pancreatic stellate cells support tumour metabolism through autophagic alanine secretion. *Nature* 536(7617), 479-483 (2016).
- 130. Vonlaufen A, Phillips PA, Xu Z *et al*. Pancreatic stellate cells and pancreatic cancer cells: an unholy alliance. *Cancer research* 68(19), 7707-7710 (2008).
- 131. Awaji M, Futakuchi M, Heavican T, Iqbal J, Singh RK. Cancer-associated fibroblasts enhance survival and progression of the aggressive pancreatic tumor via FGF-2 and CXCL8. *Cancer Microenvironment* 12(1), 37-46 (2019).
- Dumont N, Liu B, Defilippis RA *et al*. Breast fibroblasts modulate early dissemination, tumorigenesis, and metastasis through alteration of extracellular matrix characteristics. *Neoplasia* 15(3), 249-262 (2013).

- 133. Liu T, Lin B, Qin J. Carcinoma-associated fibroblasts promoted tumor spheroid invasion on a microfluidic 3D co-culture device. *Lab on a Chip* 10(13), 1671-1677 (2010).
- 134. Jeong S-Y, Lee J-H, Shin Y, Chung S, Kuh H-J. Co-culture of tumor spheroids and fibroblasts in a collagen matrix-incorporated microfluidic chip mimics reciprocal activation in solid tumor microenvironment. *PloS one* 11(7), e0159013 (2016).
- 135. Ying L, Zhu Z, Xu Z *et al.* Cancer associated fibroblast-derived hepatocyte growth factor inhibits the paclitaxel-induced apoptosis of lung cancer A549 cells by up-regulating the PI3K/Akt and GRP78 signaling on a microfluidic platform. *PloS one* 10(6), e0129593 (2015).
- Derakhshanfar S, Mbeleck R, Xu K, Zhang X, Zhong W, Xing M. 3D bioprinting for biomedical devices and tissue engineering: A review of recent trends and advances. *Bioactive materials* 3(2), 144-156 (2018).
- 137. Mondal A, Gebeyehu A, Miranda M *et al*. Characterization and printability of sodium alginate-gelatin hydrogel for bioprinting NSCLC co-culture. *Scientific reports* 9(1), 1-12 (2019).
- 138. Langer EM, Allen-Petersen BL, King SM *et al*. Modeling tumor phenotypes in vitro with three-dimensional bioprinting. *Cell reports* 26(3), 608-623. e606 (2019).
- 139. Sachs N, Papaspyropoulos A, Zomer-Van Ommen DD *et al*. Long-term expanding human airway organoids for disease modeling. *The EMBO journal* 38(4), e100300 (2019).
- Strikoudis A, Cieślak A, Loffredo L *et al*. Modeling of fibrotic lung disease using 3D organoids derived from human pluripotent stem cells. *Cell reports* 27(12), 3709-3723.
 e3705 (2019).

- 141. Norona LM, Nguyen DG, Gerber DA, Presnell SC, Lecluyse EL. Editor's highlight: modeling compound-induced fibrogenesis in vitro using three-dimensional bioprinted human liver tissues. *Toxicological Sciences* 154(2), 354-367 (2016).
- 142. Nguyen DG, Funk J, Robbins JB *et al*. Bioprinted 3D primary liver tissues allow assessment of organ-level response to clinical drug induced toxicity in vitro. *PloS one* 11(7), e0158674 (2016).
- 143. Huh D, Matthews BD, Mammoto A, Montoya-Zavala M, Hsin HY, Ingber DE.
 Reconstituting organ-level lung functions on a chip. *Science* 328(5986), 1662-1668 (2010).
- 144. Trietsch SJ, Israëls GD, Joore J, Hankemeier T, Vulto P. Microfluidic titer plate for stratified 3D cell culture. *Lab on a Chip* 13(18), 3548-3554 (2013).
- 145. Nunes SS, Miklas JW, Liu J *et al*. Biowire: a platform for maturation of human pluripotent stem cell–derived cardiomyocytes. *Nature methods* 10(8), 781-787 (2013).
- 146. Sundarakrishnan A, Zukas H, Coburn J *et al*. Bioengineered in vitro tissue model of fibroblast activation for modeling pulmonary fibrosis. *ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering* 5(5), 2417-2429 (2019).
- 147. Han W, Chen S, Yuan W *et al*. Oriented collagen fibers direct tumor cell intravasation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 113(40), 11208-11213 (2016).
- 148. Lutolf MP, Gilbert PM, Blau HM. Designing materials to direct stem-cell fate. *Nature* 462(7272), 433-441 (2009).
- 149. Lin CH, Su JJM, Lee SY, Lin YM. Stiffness modification of photopolymerizable gelatinmethacrylate hydrogels influences endothelial differentiation of human mesenchymal

stem cells. *Journal of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine* 12(10), 2099-2111 (2018).

- Nichol JW, Koshy ST, Bae H, Hwang CM, Yamanlar S, Khademhosseini A. Cell-laden microengineered gelatin methacrylate hydrogels. *Biomaterials* 31(21), 5536-5544 (2010).
- 151. Xiao S, Zhao T, Wang J *et al*. Gelatin methacrylate (GelMA)-based hydrogels for cell transplantation: an effective strategy for tissue engineering. *Stem cell reviews and reports* 15(5), 664-679 (2019).
- 152. Gwon K, Kim E, Tae G. Heparin-hyaluronic acid hydrogel in support of cellular activities of 3D encapsulated adipose derived stem cells. *Acta biomaterialia* 49 284-295 (2017).
- 153. Suo A, Xu W, Wang Y, Sun T, Ji L, Qian J. Dual-degradable and injectable hyaluronic acid hydrogel mimicking extracellular matrix for 3D culture of breast cancer MCF-7 cells. *Carbohydrate polymers* 211 336-348 (2019).
- 154. Shen Y-I, Abaci HE, Krupski Y, Weng L-C, Burdick JA, Gerecht S. Hyaluronic acid hydrogel stiffness and oxygen tension affect cancer cell fate and endothelial sprouting. Biomaterials science 2(5), 655-665 (2014).
- 155. Bauer A, Gu L, Kwee B *et al*. Hydrogel substrate stress-relaxation regulates the spreading and proliferation of mouse myoblasts. *Acta biomaterialia* 62 82-90 (2017).
- 156. Chaudhuri O, Gu L, Darnell M *et al*. Substrate stress relaxation regulates cell spreading.
 Nature communications 6(1), 1-7 (2015).

- 157. Lou J, Stowers R, Nam S, Xia Y, Chaudhuri O. Stress relaxing hyaluronic acid-collagen hydrogels promote cell spreading, fiber remodeling, and focal adhesion formation in 3D cell culture. *Biomaterials* 154 213-222 (2018).
- 158. Wisdom KM, Adebowale K, Chang J *et al*. Matrix mechanical plasticity regulates cancer cell migration through confining microenvironments. *Nature communications* 9(1), 1-13 (2018).
- 159. Kim J, Feng J, Jones CA *et al*. Stress-induced plasticity of dynamic collagen networks.
 Nature communications 8(1), 1-7 (2017).
- 160. Ban E, Franklin JM, Nam S *et al*. Mechanisms of plastic deformation in collagen networks induced by cellular forces. *Biophysical journal* 114(2), 450-461 (2018).
- 161. Booth AJ, Hadley R, Cornett AM *et al*. Acellular normal and fibrotic human lung matrices as a culture system for in vitro investigation. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 186(9), 866-876 (2012).
- 162. Parker MW, Rossi D, Peterson M *et al*. Fibrotic extracellular matrix activates a profibrotic positive feedback loop. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 124(4), (2014).
- 163. Giuffrida P, Curti M, Al-Akkad W *et al.* Decellularized human gut as a natural 3D platform for research in intestinal fibrosis. *Inflammatory bowel diseases* 25(11), 1740-1750 (2019).
- 164. Li N, Sui Z, Liu Y, Wang D, Ge G, Yang L. A fast screening model for drug permeability assessment based on native small intestinal extracellular matrix. *RSC advances* 8(60), 34514-34524 (2018).

- 165. Campàs O, Mammoto T, Hasso S *et al*. Quantifying cell-generated mechanical forces within living embryonic tissues. *Nature methods* 11(2), 183-189 (2014).
- 166. Lee W, Kalashnikov N, Mok S *et al*. Dispersible hydrogel force sensors reveal patterns of solid mechanical stress in multicellular spheroid cultures. *Nature communications* 10(1), 144 (2019).
- 167. Mohagheghian E, Luo J, Chen J *et al*. Quantifying compressive forces between living cell layers and within tissues using elastic round microgels. *Nature communications* 9(1), 1-14 (2018).
- Mok S, Al Habyan S, Ledoux C *et al*. Mapping cellular-scale internal mechanics in 3D tissues with thermally responsive hydrogel probes. *Nature Communications* 11(1), 1-11 (2020).
- 169. Serwane F, Mongera A, Rowghanian P *et al*. In vivo quantification of spatially varying mechanical properties in developing tissues. *Nature methods* 14(2), 181-186 (2017).
- 170. Proestaki M, Ogren A, Burkel B, Notbohm J. Modulus of fibrous collagen at the length scale of a cell. *Experimental mechanics* 59(9), 1323-1334 (2019).
- 171. Conklin MW, Eickhoff JC, Riching KM *et al*. Aligned collagen is a prognostic signature for survival in human breast carcinoma. *The American journal of pathology* 178(3), 1221-1232 (2011).
- 172. Schedin P, Keely PJ. Mammary gland ECM remodeling, stiffness, and mechanosignaling in normal development and tumor progression. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* 3 (2011).

- 173. Wozniak MA, Desai R, Solski PA, Der CJ, Keely PJ. ROCK-generated contractility regulates breast epithelial cell differentiation in response to the physical properties of a threedimensional collagen matrix. *J Cell Biol.* 163 (2003).
- 174. Hasebe T, Tsuda H, Tsubono Y, Imoto S, Mukai K. Fibrotic focus in invasive ductal carcinoma of the breast: a histopathological prognostic parameter for tumor recurrence and tumor death within three years after the initial operation. *Japanese journal of cancer research* 88(6), 590-599 (1997).
- 175. Hasebe T, Sasaki S, Imoto S, Mukai K, Yokose T, Ochiai A. Prognostic significance of fibrotic focus in invasive ductal carcinoma of the breast: a prospective observational study. *Modern pathology* 15(5), 502-516 (2002).
- 176. Colpaert CG, Vermeulen PB, Fox SB, Harris AL, Dirix LY, Van Marck EA. The presence of a fibrotic focus in invasive breast carcinoma correlates with the expression of carbonic anhydrase IX and is a marker of hypoxia and poor prognosis. *Breast cancer research and treatment* 81(2), 137-147 (2003).
- 177. Li Y, Wei Y, Tang W *et al.* Association between the degree of fibrosis in fibrotic focus and the unfavorable clinicopathological prognostic features of breast cancer. *PeerJ* 7 e8067 (2019).
- 178. Leung BM, Moraes C, Cavnar SP, Luker KE, Luker GD, Takayama S. Microscale 3D collagen cell culture assays in conventional flat-bottom 384-well plates. *Journal of laboratory automation* 20(2), 138-145 (2015).

- 179. Vennin C, Mélénec P, Rouet R *et al*. CAF hierarchy driven by pancreatic cancer cell p53status creates a pro-metastatic and chemoresistant environment via perlecan. *Nature communications* 10(1), 1-22 (2019).
- 180. Robinson BK, Cortes E, Rice AJ, Sarper M, Del Río Hernández A. Quantitative analysis of
 3D extracellular matrix remodelling by pancreatic stellate cells. *Biology open* 5(6), 875882 (2016).
- 181. Miron-Mendoza M, Seemann J, Grinnell F. The differential regulation of cell motile activity through matrix stiffness and porosity in three dimensional collagen matrices. *Biomaterials* 31(25), 6425-6435 (2010).
- 182. Merwin JR, Anderson JM, Kocher O, Van Itallie CM, Madri JA. Transforming growth factor beta1 modulates extracellular matrix organization and cell-cell junctional complex formation during in vitro angiogenesis. *Journal of cellular physiology* 142(1), 117-128 (1990).
- 183. Pincha N, Saha D, Bhatt T, Zirmire RK, Jamora C. Activation of Fibroblast Contractility via Cell-Cell Interactions and Soluble Signals. *BIO-PROTOCOL* 8(18), (2018).
- 184. Daniels JT, Cambrey AD, Occleston NL *et al*. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibition modulates fibroblast-mediated matrix contraction and collagen production in vitro. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science* 44(3), 1104-1110 (2003).
- 185. Kobayashi T, Kim H, Liu X *et al*. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 activates TGF-β and stimulates fibroblast contraction of collagen gels. *American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* 306(11), L1006-L1015 (2014).

- 186. Bildt M, Bloemen M, Kuijpers-Jagtman A, Von Den Hoff J. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors reduce collagen gel contraction and α-smooth muscle actin expression by periodontal ligament cells. *Journal of periodontal research* 44(2), 266-274 (2009).
- 187. Erdogan B, Ao M, White LM *et al*. Cancer-associated fibroblasts promote directional cancer cell migration by aligning fibronectin. *Journal of Cell Biology* 216(11), 3799-3816 (2017).
- Zheng Y, Sun Y, Yu X *et al.* Angiogenesis in Liquid Tumors: An In Vitro Assay for Leukemic-Cell-Induced Bone Marrow Angiogenesis. *Advanced healthcare materials* 5(9), 1014-1024 (2016).
- Carey SP, Kraning-Rush CM, Williams RM, Reinhart-King CA. Biophysical control of invasive tumor cell behavior by extracellular matrix microarchitecture. *Biomaterials* 33(16), 4157-4165 (2012).
- 190. Sapudom J, Rubner S, Martin S *et al*. The phenotype of cancer cell invasion controlled by fibril diameter and pore size of 3D collagen networks. *Biomaterials* 52 367-375 (2015).
- 191. Lampi MC, Reinhart-King CA. Targeting extracellular matrix stiffness to attenuate disease: From molecular mechanisms to clinical trials. *Science translational medicine* 10(422), eaao0475 (2018).
- 192. Flory PJ, Rehner Jr J. Statistical mechanics of cross-linked polymer networks I. Rubberlike elasticity. *The journal of chemical physics* 11(11), 512-520 (1943).
- 193. Gardel M, Shin JH, Mackintosh F, Mahadevan L, Matsudaira P, Weitz D. Elastic behavior of cross-linked and bundled actin networks. *Science* 304(5675), 1301-1305 (2004).

- 194. Samani A, Zubovits J, Plewes D. Elastic moduli of normal and pathological human breast tissues: an inversion-technique-based investigation of 169 samples. *Physics in medicine* & *biology* 52(6), 1565 (2007).
- 195. Hall JM, Barhoover MA, Kazmin D, Mcdonnell DP, Greenlee WF, Thomas RS. Activation of the aryl-hydrocarbon receptor inhibits invasive and metastatic features of human breast cancer cells and promotes breast cancer cell differentiation. *Molecular endocrinology* 24(2), 359-369 (2010).
- 196. Gluschnaider U, Hidas G, Cojocaru G, Yutkin V, Ben-Neriah Y, Pikarsky E. β-TrCP inhibition reduces prostate cancer cell growth via upregulation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *PloS one* 5(2), e9060 (2010).
- 197. Fan Y, Boivin GP, Knudsen ES, Nebert DW, Xia Y, Puga A. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor functions as a tumor suppressor of liver carcinogenesis. *Cancer research* 70(1), 212-220 (2010).
- 198. Carvajal-Gonzalez JM, Roman AC, Cerezo-Guisado MI, Rico-Leo EM, Martin-Partido G, Fernandez-Salguero PM. Loss of dioxin-receptor expression accelerates wound healing in vivo by a mechanism involving TGFβ. *Journal of cell science* 122(11), 1823-1833 (2009).
- Contador-Troca M, Alvarez-Barrientos A, Barrasa E *et al*. The dioxin receptor has tumor suppressor activity in melanoma growth and metastasis. *Carcinogenesis* 34(12), 2683-2693 (2013).

- 200. Rey-Barroso J, Colo GP, Alvarez-Barrientos A *et al*. The dioxin receptor controls β1 integrin activation in fibroblasts through a Cbp–Csk–Src pathway. *Cellular signalling* 25(4), 848-859 (2013).
- Dolivo DM, Larson SA, Dominko T. Tryptophan metabolites kynurenine and serotonin regulate fibroblast activation and fibrosis. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 75(20), 3663-3681 (2018).
- 202. Liberzon A, Birger C, Thorvaldsdóttir H, Ghandi M, Mesirov JP, Tamayo P. The molecular signatures database hallmark gene set collection. *Cell systems* 1(6), 417-425 (2015).
- 203. Marconi GD, Fonticoli L, Rajan TS *et al*. Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition (EMT): The Type-2 EMT in Wound Healing, Tissue Regeneration and Organ Fibrosis. *Cells* 10(7), 1587 (2021).
- 204. Henderson WR, Chi EY, Ye X *et al.* Inhibition of Wnt/β-catenin/CREB binding protein
 (CBP) signaling reverses pulmonary fibrosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107(32), 14309-14314 (2010).
- 205. Lam AP, Gottardi CJ. β-catenin signaling: a novel mediator of fibrosis and potential therapeutic target. *Current opinion in rheumatology* 23(6), 562 (2011).
- 206. Zuo Y, Liu Y. New insights into the role and mechanism of Wnt/β-catenin signalling in kidney fibrosis. *Nephrology* 23 38-43 (2018).
- 207. Tharp KM, Higuchi-Sanabria R, Timblin GA *et al*. Adhesion-mediated mechanosignaling forces mitohormesis. *Cell Metabolism* 33(7), 1322-1341. e1313 (2021).
- 208. Thoreen CC. The molecular basis of mTORC1-regulated translation. *Biochemical Society Transactions* 45(1), 213-221 (2017).

- 209. Erez N, Truitt M, Olson P, Hanahan D. Cancer-associated fibroblasts are activated in incipient neoplasia to orchestrate tumor-promoting inflammation in an NF-κB-dependent manner. *Cancer cell* 17(2), 135-147 (2010).
- 210. Koliaraki V, Pasparakis M, Kollias G. IKKβ in intestinal mesenchymal cells promotes initiation of colitis-associated cancer. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 212(13), 2235-2251 (2015).
- 211. Roztocil E, Hammond CL, Gonzalez MO, Feldon SE, Woeller CF. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor pathway controls matrix metalloproteinase-1 and collagen levels in human orbital fibroblasts. *Scientific reports* 10(1), 1-16 (2020).
- 212. Marek CJ, Tucker SJ, Koruth M, Wallace K, Wright MC. Expression of CYP2S1 in human hepatic stellate cells. *FEBS letters* 581(4), 781-786 (2007).
- 213. Bianchi-Smiraglia A, Bagati A, Fink EE *et al.* Inhibition of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor/polyamine biosynthesis axis suppresses multiple myeloma. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 128(10), 4682-4696 (2018).
- 214. Opitz CA, Litzenburger UM, Sahm F *et al*. An endogenous tumour-promoting ligand of the human aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Nature* 478(7368), 197-203 (2011).
- 215. Plodinec M, Loparic M, Monnier CA *et al*. The nanomechanical signature of breast cancer. *Nature nanotechnology* 7(11), 757-765 (2012).
- Chang JM, Park I, Lee SH *et al*. Stiffness of tumours measured by shear-wave elastography correlated with subtypes of breast cancer. *European radiology* 23(9), 2450-2458 (2013).

- 217. Gui Y, Aguilar-Mahecha A, Krzemien U *et al*. Metastatic breast carcinoma–associated fibroblasts have enhanced protumorigenic properties related to increased IGF2 expression. *Clinical Cancer Research* 25(23), 7229-7242 (2019).
- 218. Pein M, Insua-Rodríguez J, Hongu T *et al*. Metastasis-initiating cells induce and exploit a fibroblast niche to fuel malignant colonization of the lungs. *Nature communications* 11(1), 1-18 (2020).
- 219. Woeller CF, Roztocil E, Hammond CL, Feldon SE, Phipps RP. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor and its ligands inhibit myofibroblast formation and activation: implications for thyroid eye disease. *The American journal of pathology* 186(12), 3189-3202 (2016).
- 220. Wang Y, Liang Y, Xu H *et al*. Single-cell analysis of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma identifies a novel fibroblast subtype associated with poor prognosis but better immunotherapy response. *Cell discovery* 7(1), 1-17 (2021).
- 221. Yang C, Tibbitt MW, Basta L, Anseth KS. Mechanical memory and dosing influence stem cell fate. *Nature materials* 13(6), 645-652 (2014).
- 222. Liu F, Mih JD, Shea BS *et al*. Feedback amplification of fibrosis through matrix stiffening and COX-2 suppression. *Journal of Cell Biology* 190(4), 693-706 (2010).
- Farwell DG, Shera KA, Koop JI *et al*. Genetic and epigenetic changes in human epithelial cells immortalized by telomerase. *The American journal of pathology* 156(5), 1537-1547 (2000).
- 224. Dixon DN, Loxley RA, Barron A, Cleary S, Phillips JK. Comparative studies of PC12 and mouse pheochromocytoma-derived rodent cell lines as models for the study of

neuroendocrine systems. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Animal* 41(7), 197-206 (2005).

- 225. Crowder SW, Leonardo V, Whittaker T, Papathanasiou P, Stevens MM. Material cues as potent regulators of epigenetics and stem cell function. *Cell stem cell* 18(1), 39-52 (2016).
- 226. Jang M, An J, Oh SW *et al*. Matrix stiffness epigenetically regulates the oncogenic activation of the Yes-associated protein in gastric cancer. *Nature Biomedical Engineering* 1-10 (2020).
- 227. Young JL, Kretchmer K, Ondeck MG, Zambon AC, Engler AJ. Mechanosensitive kinases regulate stiffness-induced cardiomyocyte maturation. *Scientific reports* 4 6425 (2014).
- 228. Wang S, Hankinson O. Functional involvement of the Brahma/SWI2-related gene 1 protein in cytochrome P4501A1 transcription mediated by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor complex. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277(14), 11821-11827 (2002).
- 229. Beischlag TV, Wang S, Rose DW *et al*. Recruitment of the NCoA/SRC-1/p160 family of transcriptional coactivators by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor/aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator complex. *Molecular and cellular biology* 22(12), 4319-4333 (2002).
- 230. Schnekenburger M, Peng L, Puga A. HDAC1 bound to the Cyp1a1 promoter blocks histone acetylation associated with Ah receptor-mediated trans-activation. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Structure and Expression* 1769(9-10), 569-578 (2007).
- 231. Yoo J, Seo BK, Park EK *et al*. Tumor stiffness measured by shear wave elastography correlates with tumor hypoxia as well as histologic biomarkers in breast cancer. *Cancer Imaging* 20(1), 1-10 (2020).

- 232. Gutiérrez-Vázquez C, Quintana FJ. Regulation of the immune response by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Immunity* 48(1), 19-33 (2018).
- 233. Trikha P, Lee DA. The role of AhR in transcriptional regulation of immune cell development and function. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews on Cancer* 1873(1), 188335 (2020).
- 234. Céspedes MA, Galindo MI, Couso JP. Dioxin toxicity in vivo results from an increase in the dioxin-independent transcriptional activity of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *PLoS One* 5(11), e15382 (2010).
- Qin H, Powell-Coffman JA. The Caenorhabditis elegans aryl hydrocarbon receptor, AHR1, regulates neuronal development. *Developmental biology* 270(1), 64-75 (2004).
- 236. Qin H, Zhai Z, Powell-Coffman JA. The Caenorhabditis elegans AHR-1 transcription complex controls expression of soluble guanylate cyclase genes in the URX neurons and regulates aggregation behavior. *Developmental biology* 298(2), 606-615 (2006).
- 237. Schmidt JV, Su G, Reddy JK, Simon MC, Bradfield CA. Characterization of a murine Ahr null allele: involvement of the Ah receptor in hepatic growth and development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 93(13), 6731-6736 (1996).
- Fernandez-Salguero P, Pineau T, Hilbert DM *et al*. Immune system impairment and hepatic fibrosis in mice lacking the dioxin-binding Ah receptor. *Science* 268(5211), 722-726 (1995).
- 239. Lahvis GP, Lindell SL, Thomas RS *et al*. Portosystemic shunting and persistent fetal vascular structures in aryl hydrocarbon receptor-deficient mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 97(19), 10442-10447 (2000).
- 240. Mimura J, Yamashita K, Nakamura K *et al*. Loss of teratogenic response to 2, 3, 7, 8tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) in mice lacking the Ah (dioxin) receptor. *Genes to cells* 2(10), 645-654 (1997).
- 241. Andreola F, Fernandez-Salguero PM, Chiantore MV, Petkovich MP, Gonzalez FJ, De Luca LM. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor knockout mice (AHR-/-) exhibit liver retinoid accumulation and reduced retinoic acid metabolism. *Cancer research* 57(14), 2835-2838 (1997).
- 242. Peterson TC, Hodgson P, Fernandez-Salguero P, Neumeister M, Gonzalez FJ. Hepatic fibrosis and cytochrome P450: experimental models of fibrosis compared to AHR knockout mice. *Hepatology research* 17(2), 112-125 (2000).
- 243. Brown JC, Carson TL, Thompson HJ, Agurs-Collins T. The Triple Health Threat of Diabetes, Obesity, and Cancer—Epidemiology, Disparities, Mechanisms, and Interventions. *Obesity* 29(6), 954-959 (2021).
- 244. Lu W, Li X, Luo Y. FGF21 in obesity and cancer: New insights. *Cancer letters* 499 5-13 (2021).
- 245. Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: facilitators of cancer and obesity-induced cancer. *Annual Review of Cancer Biology* 5 17-38 (2021).
- 246. Pham D-V, Park P-H. Tumor metabolic reprogramming by adipokines as a critical driver of obesity-associated cancer progression. *International journal of molecular sciences* 22(3), 1444 (2021).
- 247. Taylor SR, Ramsamooj S, Liang RJ *et al*. Dietary fructose improves intestinal cell survival and nutrient absorption. *Nature* doi:10.1038/s41586-021-03827-2 (2021).

- 248. Sauzeau V, Carvajal-González JM, Riolobos AS *et al*. Transcriptional factor aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ahr) controls cardiovascular and respiratory functions by regulating the expression of the Vav3 proto-oncogene. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 286(4), 2896-2909 (2011).
- 249. Lahvis GP, Pyzalski RW, Glover E, Pitot HC, Mcelwee MK, Bradfield CA. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor is required for developmental closure of the ductus venosus in the neonatal mouse. *Molecular pharmacology* 67(3), 714-720 (2005).
- 250. Yin J, Sheng B, Han B *et al*. The AhR is involved in the regulation of LoVo cell proliferation through cell cycle-associated proteins. *Cell Biology International* 40(5), 560-568 (2016).
- Benedict JC, Lin T-M, Loeffler I, Peterson RE, Flaws JA. Physiological role of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor in mouse ovary development. *Toxicological Sciences* 56(2), 382-388 (2000).
- 252. Quintana FJ, Basso AS, Iglesias AH *et al*. Control of Treg and TH17 cell differentiation by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Nature* 453(7191), 65-71 (2008).
- 253. Stockinger B, Meglio PD, Gialitakis M, Duarte JH. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor: multitasking in the immune system. *Annual review of immunology* 32 403-432 (2014).
- 254. Denison MS, Nagy SR. Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor by structurally diverse exogenous and endogenous chemicals. *Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology* 43(1), 309-334 (2003).
- 255. Lee HU, Mcpherson ZE, Tan B, Korecka A, Pettersson S. Host-microbiome interactions: the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and the central nervous system. *Journal of molecular medicine* 95(1), 29-39 (2017).

- 256. Hooper LV. You AhR what you eat: linking diet and immunity. *Cell* 147(3), 489-491 (2011).
- 257. Korecka A, Dona A, Lahiri S *et al*. Bidirectional communication between the Aryl hydrocarbon Receptor (AhR) and the microbiome tunes host metabolism. *npj Biofilms and Microbiomes* 2(1), 1-10 (2016).
- 258. Roskelley C, Bissell M. Dynamic reciprocity revisited: a continuous, bidirectional flow of information between cells and the extracellular matrix regulates mammary epithelial cell function. *Biochemistry and cell biology* 73(7-8), 391-397 (1995).
- 259. Friedl P, Bröcker E-B. The biology of cell locomotion within three-dimensional extracellular matrix. *Cellular and molecular life sciences CMLS* 57(1), 41-64 (2000).
- 260. Chandrasekaran A, Abduljawad M, Moraes C. Have microfluidics delivered for drug discovery? 11(8), 745-748 (2016).
- 261. Binnewies M, Roberts EW, Kersten K *et al*. Understanding the tumor immune microenvironment (TIME) for effective therapy. *Nature medicine* 24(5), 541-550 (2018).
- 262. Sznol M, Chen L. Antagonist antibodies to PD-1 and B7-H1 (PD-L1) in the treatment of advanced human cancer. 19(5), 1021-1034 (2013).
- 263. Monteran L, Erez N. The dark side of fibroblasts: cancer-associated fibroblasts as mediators of immunosuppression in the tumor microenvironment. *Frontiers in immunology* 1835 (2019).
- 264. Barrett R, Puré E. Cancer-associated fibroblasts: key determinants of tumor immunity and immunotherapy. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 64 80-87 (2020).

- 265. Maller O, Drain AP, Barrett AS *et al*. Tumour-associated macrophages drive stromal celldependent collagen crosslinking and stiffening to promote breast cancer aggression. *Nature materials* 20(4), 548-559 (2021).
- 266. Suzuki J, Aokage K, Neri S *et al*. Relationship between podoplanin-expressing cancerassociated fibroblasts and the immune microenvironment of early lung squamous cell carcinoma. *Lung Cancer* 153 1-10 (2021).
- 267. Kato R, Haratani K, Hayashi H *et al.* Nintedanib promotes antitumour immunity and shows antitumour activity in combination with PD-1 blockade in mice: potential role of cancer-associated fibroblasts. *British journal of cancer* 124(5), 914-924 (2021).
- 268. Ford K, Hanley CJ, Mellone M *et al.* NOX4 inhibition potentiates immunotherapy by overcoming cancer-associated fibroblast-mediated CD8 T-cell exclusion from tumors. *Cancer research* 80(9), 1846-1860 (2020).
- 269. Özdemir BC, Pentcheva-Hoang T, Carstens JL *et al*. Depletion of carcinoma-associated fibroblasts and fibrosis induces immunosuppression and accelerates pancreas cancer with reduced survival. *Cancer cell* 25(6), 719-734 (2014).
- 270. Pfaffl MW. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT–PCR. *Nucleic acids research* 29(9), e45-e45 (2001).
- 271. Stirling DR, Swain-Bowden MJ, Lucas AM, Carpenter AE, Cimini BA, Goodman A.
 CellProfiler 4: improvements in speed, utility and usability. *BMC bioinformatics* 22(1), 1-11 (2021).

272. Tang Z, Kang B, Li C, Chen T, Zhang Z. GEPIA2: an enhanced web server for large-scale expression profiling and interactive analysis. *Nucleic acids research* 47(W1), W556-W560 (2019).